




Gazit-Globe is one of the world’s leading multi-national real estate investment companies and a global leader 
in the acquisition, development and management of supermarket anchored shopping centers. Gazit is listed 
on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (TASE: GLOB), is in the TA-25 and the Real-Estate 15 indices, and has an equity 
market capitalization of about $1.5 billion (US). The Group operates in more than 20 countries, owns and 
manages approximately 650 properties with a gross leasable area of more than 6 million m2, has a consolidated 
total asset value of approximately $15 billion (US) and a gross annualized income of about $1.5 billion (US).

Since its creation in 1991, the Group's activities have grown significantly, while the quality of its operations and 
assets has been continually enhanced. Gazit's primary objective is the creation of value through long-term 
maximization of cash flow and capital appreciation from its growing real estate portfolio. Gazit’s knowledge 
and expertise, combined with its proactive management style and disciplined acquisition strategy, has enabled 
it to grow its business consistently and expand its portfolio into other asset classes and geographies. Gazit 

continues to seek opportunities in the regions where it operates as well as in new territories.   The Company 
has a declared, quarterly, dividend policy since 1998. For 2010, the declared quarterly dividend will be at least 
NIS 0.37 per share (~$0.10 per share) which reflects an annualized dividend distribution of NIS 1.48 per share 
(~$0.40 per share).
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Directors’ Report to Equity Holders
For the period ended March 31, 2010

The Board of Directors of Gazit-Globe Ltd. (“the Company”) is pleased to present the financial statements of 
the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the period ended March 31, 2010: 

1.	 General 
A.	 Introduction
	 The Company through its consolidated subsidiaries, including jointly controlled companies1 (collectively: 

“the Group”), is engaged in the acquisition, development and management of income-producing 
properties in North America, Europe, Israel and Brazil. Within the framework of its activities in the 
income-producing property sector, the Group focuses mainly on supermarket-anchored shopping 
centers. The Group is also active in the medical office buildings sector in North America, in the senior 
housing facilities sector in the U.S.A., as well as in the initiation, development, management and 
construction of real estate projects in Israel and Eastern Europe. Furthermore, the Group continues 
to seek and realize opportunities by acquiring properties and/or companies that are active within its 
core business or similar asset classes, both in regions where it operates and also in new territories. 

	 The policy of the Company, as put into practice over the years is to focus on maximizing its cash flows 
through the active management of its properties. Company management believes that the long-term 
ownership of the properties, alongside the implementation of this policy, will result in added value for 
its equity holders. 

B.	 Properties 
	 As of March 31, 2010, the Group owns and manages 648 properties, as follows:

-	 599 shopping centers 

-	 9 shopping centers under development 

-	 15 senior housing facilities (encompassing 1,650 units) 

-	 13 medical office buildings that include 2 multi-story parking garages 

-	 12 other properties 

	

	 The above properties have a gross leasable area (“G.L.A.”) of approximately 6.3 million square meters 
(approximately 67.8 million square feet). They are recorded in the Company’s books at their fair value 
of NIS 45.6 billion (NIS 53.7 billion, assuming full consolidation2) and generate annual rental revenue 
of NIS 4.6 billion (NIS 5.4 billion, assuming full consolidation1) (annual rental revenue data are based 
on the gross annual rentals from the properties owned and the exchange rates as of March 31, 2010). 

1	 Reference to consolidated subsidiaries includes, unless stated otherwise, both companies that are fully consolidated by the Company 
and also jointly controlled companies that are consolidated by the Company according to the proportionate consolidation method.

2	 Assuming the full consolidation of jointly controlled companies consolidated according to the proportionate consolidation method. 
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	 In the U.S.A., the Company operates mainly through Equity One Inc. (“EQY”), a public company listed 
on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: EQY). EQY is a REIT (Real Estate Investment Trust) for U.S. 
tax purposes. As of March 31, 2010, the Company owns, directly and indirectly (through the subsidiary, 
Gazit America Inc., as described below), 49.2% of EQY. EQY’s properties are located primarily in 
growing metropolitan areas in the southeastern United States (mainly in Florida and Georgia) and 
in the metropolitan areas of Boston, Massachusetts and New York. EQY owns 177 income-producing 
properties (171 operating shopping centers and 6 other properties), with a G.L.A. of 1.8 million square 
meters (approximately 19.4 million square feet), as well as 2 shopping centers under development. 

	 In addition, EQY partly owns, through joint ventures (10%/20%), and manages 13 shopping centers in 
the U.S.A., with a G.L.A. of 177 thousand square meters (approximately 1.9 million square feet). 

	 The Company is also active in the United States through Royal Senior Care (“RSC”) and ProMed 
Properties Inc. (“ProMed”). RSC, in which the Company holds a 60% interest, is active in the senior 
housing facilities sector in the southeastern United States. RSC owns 15 senior housing facilities, 
encompassing 1,650 units. ProMed, which is wholly (100%) owned, is engaged in the medical office 
buildings sector. ProMed owns 10 medical office buildings in the U.S.A., with a G.L.A. of 92 thousand 
square meters (approximately 990 thousand square feet), as well as 2 multi-story parking garages. 

	 In Canada, the Company mainly operates through First Capital Realty Inc. (“FCR”), a public company 
listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX: FCR). As of March 31, 2010, the Company holds 50.6% of 
FCR. FCR’s properties are located primarily in growing metropolitan areas in the provinces of Ontario, 
Quebec, Alberta and British Columbia in Canada. FCR owns 173 shopping centers in Canada, with 
a G.L.A. of approximately 1.9 million square meters (approximately 20.5 million square feet) and 3 
shopping centers under development. 

	 The Company also operates in Canada through Gazit America Inc. (“GAA”), a public company listed 
on the TSX. As of March 31, 2010, the Company holds 66% of GAA. In addition to its holding of 14.2 
million shares of EQY (15.4%), GAA is currently active in the medical office buildings sector in Canada 
and owns 3 medical office buildings, with a G.L.A. of 15 thousand square meters (approximately 161 
thousand square feet). 

	 In Brazil, the Company operates through Gazit Brazil Ltda. (“Gazit Brazil”), a subsidiary that is wholly 
owned by the Company. Gazit Brazil is active in the acquisition, development, and management of 
shopping centers in Brazil, and owns 2 income-producing shopping centers with a G.L.A. of 18 thousand 
square meters (approximately 194 thousand square feet) and also a shopping center under development. 

	 In Northern Europe, the Company operates through Citycon Oyj. (“CTY”), a Finnish public company, 
whose shares are listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange (OMX). As of March 31, 2010, the Company 
owns approximately 47.6% of CTY. CTY is active in Finland, Sweden, Estonia and Lithuania and owns 
84 shopping centers and retail properties, with a G.L.A. of 1 million square meters (approximately 10.8 
million square feet). The shopping centers and retail properties are leased primarily to supermarket 
and other retail chains. 

	 In addition, the Company also operates in Central and Eastern Europe through Atrium European Real 
Estate Limited (“ATR”) – a company incorporated on the island of Jersey, listed on the Vienna Stock 
Exchange and on the Euronext stock exchange, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and proportionately 
consolidated. As of March 31, 2010, the Company owns 30.1% of ATR (to the best of the Company’s 
knowledge, CPI owns 19.5% of ATR). ATR operates primarily in Poland, the Czech Republic, Russia, 
Slovakia, Hungary, Turkey, Romania and Latvia. It owns 152 income-producing shopping centers, which 
have a G.L.A. of 1.1 million square meters (approximately 11.8 million square feet). It also has one 
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property under development and 38 projects at various stages of development, which include, inter 
alia, plots of land for future development. 

	 In addition, the Company also operates in Germany in the shopping centers sector, where it operates 
through wholly owned subsidiaries (“Gazit Europe”) and owns 6 shopping centers with a G.L.A. of 
approximately 97 thousand square meters (approximately 1,044 thousand square feet) and land 
reserves for the future development of shopping centers. The Company is also active in Bulgaria 
and Macedonia, through wholly owned subsidiaries of Gazit-Globe Israel (Development) Ltd. (“Gazit 
Development (Bulgaria)”), where it owns a shopping center with a G.L.A. of approximately 7 thousand 
square meters (approximately 75 thousand square feet) and 5 plots of land for the future development 
of shopping centers and offices. 

	 In Israel, the Company is active in the acquisition, development and management of shopping centers 
through Gazit-Globe Israel (Development) Ltd. (“Gazit Development”), which is 75% owned. Gazit 
Development owns 10 income-producing shopping centers in Israel, with a G.L.A. of approximately 
106 thousand square meters (approximately 1,141 thousand square feet) and has a shopping center 
under development, as well as land reserves for future development. 

	 In addition, the Company also operates in Israel through Acad Building & Investments Ltd. (“Acad”), 
in which it has a 50% interest and which is consolidated according to the proportionate consolidation 
method. Acad’s main activity is the holding, directly and indirectly, of 73.8% of the share capital and voting 
rights of U. Dori Group Ltd. (“U. Dori”), a public company that is listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange 
Ltd. (“the Stock Exchange”). U. Dori is primarily engaged in the initiation, development, construction 
and sale of real estate projects and the management and performance of contractual works in the real 
estate sector in Israel and Eastern Europe, as well as in the ownership and management of income-
producing properties that are either wholly or jointly owned. In addition, U. Dori also owns 18.75% of 
the company, Dorad Energy Ltd., which is involved in the construction of a private power station in the 
Ashkelon region of Israel. Besides its holdings in U. Dori, Acad also operates as a contractor in Nigeria 
and is the part-owner of rights in an income-producing property in Israel. 

	 Other publicly accessible data concerning the Group, including up-to-date presentations, supplemental 
packages with information regarding assets, liabilities and other information (it is hereby clarified 
that such information does not constitute part of this report and is also not included by way of this 
reference), can be found on the Company’s Internet website – www.gazit-globe.com, and the Internet 
websites of the Group’s public companies: 

	 www.equityone.net  
www.firstcapitalrealty.ca  
www.citycon.fi  
www.aere.com 
www.gazitamerica.ca
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 The Regions (marked -) where the Company operates are shown on the following map:
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C. Effects of the Financial Crisis 
 The implications of the economic crisis that began in 2007 for the markets in which the Group operates 

have led, inter alia, to a certain adverse effect, which is not material, on cash flows from the Group’s 
properties and to an increase in cash flow cap rates; these factors have led to a decline in the fair 
value of the Group’s properties. During the second half of 2009 and through to the date of approval of 
the financial statements, there has been a moderation in the effects of the crisis, as described above. 

 In general, the Company assesses that, as of March 31, 2010 and as of the date of approval of the financial 
statements, the crisis has had localized effects on the operating results of certain Group companies 
and has had a certain adverse, but not material, effect on the cash flows from the properties of those 
companies. Moreover, there has been no significant decline in the occupancy rates in the Group’s 
properties or in the average rent, nor have there been significant delays in rent payments that could 
materially affect the Group’s revenues from rent. The Company assesses that it will be able to continue 
financing current operations and its investment activities from the Group’s existing financing sources, 
namely the Group’s liquid balances, its cash flows, issuances of equity and debt in the various capital 
markets in which the Group operates, and its unutilized approved credit facilities. 

 Notwithstanding the situation described above, a renewed worsening of the global financial crisis 
could affect the Group’s operations, its results and its financial position, in the event of a decline in its 
operating results and cash flows. It could also cause a worse decline in the fair value of the investment 
property, investment property under development and fixed assets of the Group. 

 The Company’s assessments of the impact of a second outbreak of the financial crisis on its operations, 
revenues, profits and financial position are not certain nor are they under the Company’s control; 
they therefore constitute forward looking statements. These assessments are based on facts and 
data with respect to the present position of the Company and its business, the present position of its 
fields of operation and the markets it operates in, and macro-economic facts and data, all as known 
to the Company on the date of approval of the financial statements. In addition, the Company’s said 
assessments are based to a material extent on its present expectations and assessments with respect to 
future developments in each of the said parameters, and their inter-relationship. The Company cannot 
be certain that its assessments will indeed be realized, since they are subject to external influences 
that cannot be assessed in advance and that, as stated above, are not under its control. 
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D.	 Highlights - First Quarter 2010 (“the reporting period”) 

(NIS in millions, other than per share data) 3 months ended March 31

2010 2009 Change

Property rental income 1,138 1,001 14%

NOI1 734 662 11%

Proportionately consolidated NOI2 419 363 15%

Gross profit 741 667 5%

Gross profit from property rental 730 659 11%

Cash flows from operating activities 88 43 105%

FFO3 83 104 (20%)

FFO3 per share (NIS) 0.60 0.83 (28%)

Investments in investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets 913 492 -

Decrease in value of investment property and investment property under development: 
    Consolidated 
    The Company’s share

46 
14

165 
34

- 
-

Net income attributable to equity holders of the Company 218 267 -

Diluted net earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company (NIS) 1.56 2.13 -

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 5,103 4,011 -

Equity per share attributable to equity holders of the Company (NIS) 36.8 32.0 -

Net asset value per share (EPRA NAV4) (NIS) 35.6 34.8 -

EPRA NNNAV4 per share (NIS) 32.3 44.7 -

•	 In the reporting period, the Group raised a net amount of NIS 401 million in share capital from 
the public, compared to NIS 107 million in the corresponding quarter last year. 

•	 As of March 31, 2010, the Group had liquid balances and unutilized credit facilities available 
for immediate drawdown amounting to NIS 5.9 billion. 

•	 Debt to market capitalization (derived mainly from the presentation of investment property at 
fair value) totaled 63.0%, as of March 31, 2010, compared to 63.7% as of December 31, 2009. 

•	 As of March 31, 2010, the Group had 8 properties under development with a gross area of 
71.5 thousand square meters (approximately 770 thousand square feet), 19 properties being 
redeveloped, and additional land reserves earmarked for future development, which are presented 
in the Company’s books in the amount of NIS 2.9 billion. The additional cost to complete the 
properties under development and redevelopment totals NIS 1 billion. 

1	 NOI – Property rental income, net of rental property operating expenses. 

2	 The Company’s proportionate share in the NOI of Group companies, in accordance with the holding rate in the equity of each of the Group 
companies – refer to section G.3 below. 

3	 Calculated according to the EPRA criteria , as described in section G.2 below. FFO data and FFO per share data do not include the gain 
from the early redemption of debentures and convertible debentures. 

4	 Refer to section G.4 below. 
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E. The Company’s Major Holdings are Shown Below (Ownership Percentages are 
as of March 31, 2010): 

F. Breakdown of Net Operating Income (“NOI”)1, According to the Company’s Operating Regions:
 

                     Q1 2010                 Q1 20092  

1 As to the Company’s share (“by proportionate consolidation”), refer to section I.3 below. 
2 Excludes the Company’s share in ATR’s NOI. 
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G.	 Additional Information Concerning the Company’s Assets and Liabilities
1.	 The following table presents additional information summarizing the Company’s assets as of March 31, 

2010, as described above: 

Name of company Type of security/ 
property

Holding 
(millions)

Holding rate 
(%)

Book value  
(NIS in millions)

Market value 
as of  March 31, 

2010 (NIS in 
millions)

EQY1 Shares (NYSE) 31.1 33.8 1,562 2,184

FCR Shares (TSX) 49.3 50.6 2,937 3,986

FCR Convertible  
debentures (TSX)

 
158.0

 
-

 
599

 
577

CTY Shares (OMX) 105.8 47.6 1,682 1,558

CTY Convertible  
debentures (OMX)

 
42.0

 
-

 
239

 
-

ATR Shares (Euronext, 
VSX)

 
111.8

 
30.1

 
3,239

 
2,645

GAA Shares (TSX) 8.5 66.0 156 175

U. Dori2 Shares (TASE) 42.5 36.9 72 106

RSC3 Income-producing 
property

 
-

 
-

 
542

 
-

Income-producing 
property in Europe

Income-producing 
property

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

966

 
 
 

-

Land in Europe Property under 
development and 
land

 
 

-

 
 

-

 
 

360

 
 

-

ProMed Income-producing 
property

 
-

 
-

 
1,201

 
-

Brazil Income-producing 
property

 
-

 
-

 
331

 
-

Income-producing 
property in Israel

Income-producing 
property

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

1,677

 
 
 

-

Property under 
development and land 
in Israel 

Property under 
development and 
land

 
 
 
 

-

 
 
 
 

-

 
 
 
 

474

 
 
 
 

-

Total - - 16,037 -

1	 Represents only the Company’s direct interest in EQY (in addition, GAA owns 14.2 million EQY shares). 
2	 Represents linked holding in U. Dori. 
3	 Presented at the fair value of the properties, in accordance with International Accounting Standard No. 16. 
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	 Below are the Company’s monetary balances (including balances of subsidiaries that are not public 
companies) (“expanded stand-alone basis”) as of March 31, 2010 (NIS in millions): 

Debentures 7,8091

Debts to financial institutions 4,155

Total debentures and debts to financial institutions(*) 11,964

Other monetary liabilities 512

Other liabilities 204

Total liabilities 12,680

Less – monetary assets 1,746

Liabilities, net 10,934

(*)  Below are the annual repayments of debentures and debts to other financial institutions (NIS in millions): 

Year Debentures Banks Mortgages Total %

2010 43 2 127 172 1

2011 519 1,1802 143 1,842 15

2012 519 1,2733 37 1,829 15

2013 649 30 207 886 7

2014 266 - 629 895 7

2015 821 - 88 909 8

2016 802 - 15 817 7

2017 738 - 58 796 7

2018 823 - 252 1,075 9

2019 1,192 - 11 1,203 10

2020 616 - 11 627 6

2021 and after 821 - 92 913 8

Total 7,809 2,485 1,670 11,964 100

1	 Excludes an asset of NIS 903 million that represents the fair value of swap-type derivatives, which are presented as part of the financial assets. 
2	 The Company, in the normal course of business, is acting to extend these credit lines for a further period. 
3	 Includes a special purpose credit line to finance the ATR transaction. 
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2.	 FFO and EPRA Direct Result
	 As is the practice in the U.S.A. and in European countries, the Company customarily publishes 

information regarding the results of its operating activities, in addition to and without derogating from 
the income statement prepared according to accounting principles. In European countries where the 
financial statements are prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”), it is customary for income-producing property companies to publish their “Direct Result”, 
which is a measure for presenting the operating results of a company that are attributable to its equity 
holders, as well as the “Indirect Result” which is a measure for presenting the non-operating results 
of a company that are attributable to its equity holders, with this being in line with the position paper 
of the European Public Real Estate Association (“EPRA”), the objective of which is to promote greater 
transparency, uniformity and comparability of the financial information reported by property companies. 

	 The Direct Result is calculated as the net income (loss) attributable to the equity holders of a company with 
certain adjustments with respect to non-operating items, which are affected by the fair value revaluation of 
assets and liabilities, primarily adjustments to the fair value of investment property, investment property 
under development and other investments, and various capital gains and losses, a gain from negative 
goodwill and the amortization of goodwill, changes in the fair value recognized with respect to financial 
instruments, deferred taxes and minority interests with respect to the above items. 

	 In the U.S.A., where the financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”), it is customary for income-producing property companies to 
publish their FFO results (which is the net income (loss) attributable to its equity holders, reported 
after neutralizing income and expenses of a capital nature and with the addition of the company’s 
share in property depreciation and other amortization), in accordance with the position paper issued 
by NAREIT – the U.S.-based National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts. 

	 The Direct Result is therefore essentially the same as FFO, with adjustments for the results reported 
under IFRS. 

	 The Company believes that publication of FFO, which is computed according to the directives of EPRA, 
more correctly reflects the operating results of the Company, since the Company’s financial statements 
are prepared in conformity with IFRS. In addition, publication of FFO provides a better basis for the 
comparison of the Company’s operating results in a particular period to those of previous periods and 
strengthens the uniformity and the comparability of this financial measure to that published by other 
European property companies. 

	 As clarified in the EPRA and NAREIT position papers, the Direct Result and the FFO measures do not 
represent cash flows from current operations according to accepted accounting principles, nor do they 
reflect the cash held by a company or its ability to distribute that cash, and they are not a substitute 
for the reported net income (loss). Furthermore, it is also clarified that these measures are not part 
of the data audited by the Company’s independent auditors. 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON THE STATE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS 

   GAZIT-GLOBE • Q1 2010 | 15

	 The table below presents the calculation of the Company’s FFO, computed according to the directives 
of EPRA, and its FFO per share for the stated periods: 

For the three  months  
ended Msrch 31

For the 
year ended 

December 31

2010 2009 2009

NIS in millions (other than per share data)

Net income attributable to equity holders of the Company 218  267  1,101 

Adjustments to net income:

Fair value loss on investment property and investment property under 
development, net

14  34  845 

Depreciation and amortization1 22  37  33 

Losses (gains) from dilution of holdings in investees and disposal of 
properties and investments

(20) (53) (1,136)

Adjustments with respect to associates2 2  124  342 

Gain from increase in holding rate of investees -  (406) (759)

Revaluation of derivatives and linkage basis of liabilities (227) 110  103 

Deferred tax expenses (income) 54  28  (98)

Other adjustments3 24  26  85 

Total adjustments to net income (131) (100) (585)

FFO 87  167  516 

Basic and diluted FFO per share (in NIS) 0.63  1.33  3.98 

FFO after neutralizing gain from early redemption of debentures* 83  104  420 

Basic and diluted FFO per share (in NIS) after neutralizing gain from 
early redemption of debentures*

0.60  0.83  3.24 

Number of shares used to calculate diluted FFO per share (in thousands 
of shares)

139,054  125,275  129,706 

*	 The reduction in FFO, after neutralizing a gain from the early redemption of debentures, compared to the corresponding 
quarter lat year, is mainly due to the transaction in which ATR convertible debentures were exchanged for ATR shares, 
which was closed in December 2009. 

1	 Includes the fair value adjustments to available-for-sale securities and to the derivatives that arose from the ATR transaction. 
2	 Reflects the Company’s share in the adjustments of associates’ net income (loss) to the FFO of those companies. 
3	 Expenses directly related to the income and expense items adjusted against the net income for the purpose of calculating FFO and adjustment 

of expenses arising from the termination of the engagement of senior employees with the Group, as well as an income adjustment from 
the waiver of bonuses by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors. 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON THE STATE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS 

  16 | GAZIT-GLOBE • Q1 2010  

3.	 Additional information is presented below concerning the Company’s share in the income-producing 
properties owned by the Group as of March 31, 2010, based on capitalized net operating income (“NOI”)13 
methodology. The presentation of this information is intended to provide additional information, based 
on methodology that is generally accepted in the regions in which the Group operates, which might 
serve as an additional method in analyzing the value of the Company’s properties on the basis of the 
Company’s financial results for the reporting period. It is emphasized that this information in no way 
represents the Company’s estimate of the present or future value of its assets. 

	 The sensitivity analyses shown in the table below describe the implied value of the income-producing 
properties using the aforesaid methodology2 owned by the Group according to the range of different 
discount rates (“cap rates”) generally accepted in the regions in which the Group operates, as of the 
date of the financial statements. It should be noted that this presentation does not take into account 
income from premises that have not been leased and additional building rights that exist with respect 
to the Group’s income-producing properties. 

	 In calculating the NOI, the following assumptions were taken into account: 

a.	 The NOI for the period for each of the Group companies. 

b.	 The Company’s proportionate share in the NOI of the Group companies.

For the three  months ended 
March 31

For the year ended 
December 31

2009 2008 2009

NIS in millions

Property rental income 1,138  1,001  4,084 

Rental property operating expenses, net of depreciation (404) (339) (1,355)

NOI for the period 734  662  2,729 

Less – minority’s share in NOI (315) (299) (1,312)

NOI for the period 419  363  1,417 

NOI for the year 1,6783 1,4513 1,417 

	 Value of proportionately consolidated income-producing property according to the NOI for the first 
quarter of 2010:

Cap Rate: 6.50% 7.00% 7.50% 8.00%

Value of income-producing property (NIS in millions) 25,812 23,968 22,370 20,972
	

	 New properties and properties under development, which have not yet come on line and which are 
presented at their fair values in the Group’s books (according to the proportionate consolidation method) 
as of March 31, 2010, amounted to NIS 2,753 million. 

	 The Group’s liabilities, net of monetary assets (according to the proportionate consolidation method) 
as of March 31, 2010, amounted to NIS 19,619 million. 

	 Property rental income, as stated above, does not include the income from premises that have not been 
leased, with an area of 167 thousand square meters (approximately 1.8 million square feet) (according 
to the proportionate consolidation method). 

1	 NOI – Property rental income, net of rental property operating expenses. 
2	 NOI divided by the cap rate. 
3	 NOI for the first quarter multiplied by 4.
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4.	 Net Asset Value (EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV) 
	 As is customary in the European countries in which the Group is active, and in line with the EPRA 

position paper, the objective of which is to promote greater transparency, uniformity and comparability 
of the financial information reported by property companies, the Company publishes net asset value 
data (EPRA NAV), which is a measure that reflects the net asset value of the Company, with certain 
adjustments, e.g., the neutralization of the fair value revaluation adjustments with respect to derivatives, 
which are treated as hedging instruments from an economic perspective, but which do not meet the 
criteria for hedge accounting, and deferred tax adjustments with respect to the revaluation of assets to 
their fair value; the Company also publishes EPRA NNNAV data, which is another measure reflecting 
net asset value (EPRA NAV), adjusted for the fair value of financial instruments of the kind referred to 
above and for the fair value of financial liabilities, and also with certain adjustments to the provision 
for deferred taxes. 

	 The Company considers that presentation of EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV data enables the Company’s 
results to be compared with those of other European property companies. At the same time, these data 
do not constitute a valuation of the Company and do not replace the data presented in the financial 
statements; rather, they provide an additional aspect of the Company’s results in accordance with the 
recommendations of EPRA. It is also clarified that these data are not data that have been audited by 
the Company’s auditors. 

	 Presented below is the calculation of the EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV: 

As of March 31 As of December 31

2010 2009 2009

NIS in millions

a. EPRA NAV

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company, 
per the financial statements 

5,103  4,011  5,189 

Adjustments for neutralization of fair value of derivatives (832) (476) (723)

Add – Provision for tax on revaluation of investment 
property to fair value (net of minority’s share) 674  819  698 

Net asset value – EPRA NAV 4,945  4,354  5,164 

EPRA NAV per share (in NIS) 35.6  34.8  37.2 

b. EPRA NNNAV

EPRA NAV 4,945  4,.354  5,164 

Adjustment for addition of fair value of derivatives 832  476  723 

Adjustments of financial liabilities to fair value (672) 1,208  (46)

Other adjustments to provision for deferred taxes1 (625) (441) (634)

“Adjusted” net asset value - EPRA NNNAV 4,480  5,597  5,207 

EPRA NNNAV per share (in NIS) 32.3  44.7  37.5 

5.	 As of March 31, 2010, the Company’s issued share capital comprises 138.8 million shares (excluding 
treasury shares held by the Company). 

15	 This adjustment does not include a provision for tax with respect to the revaluation of investment property in territories where, upon 
disposing of property, the Company customarily defers the payment of the capital gains tax. 
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2.	 Explanations of the Board of Directors for the Corporation’s Business 
Position, its Operating Results, its Equity and its Cash Flows 

2.1	 General 
	 In the reporting period, the Group’s investments in the acquisition and development of new properties 

and in the redevelopment, expansion and construction of various existing properties totaled NIS 913 
million and investments in investees totaled NIS 53 million. The effect of these investments on the 
operating results will mainly be reflected during the rest of the year. 

A.	 Property activities 
1)	 In the reporting period, the Group acquired 4 income-producing properties, with a total G.L.A. 

of 30 thousand square meters (approximately 323 thousand square feet), and plots of land 
adjacent to the Group’s properties for future development, at a total cost of NIS 510 million. 
In addition, the Group has developed new properties and redeveloped existing properties at a 
total cost of NIS 403 million. 

2)	 Operating data:

Income- 
producing 
properties

G.L.A. 
(in thousands 

of square 
meters)

Average basic monthly  
rent per square meter

Change in 
same 

property 
NOI*

Occupancy 
rate

Debt to 
market 

capitalization1

31.3.2010 31.3.2009 31.3.2010 31.3.2009

FCR 173 1,934 CAD 14.23 CAD 
13.68

5.2% 96.3% 96.0% 49.5%

EQY 177 1,828 USD 11.01 USD 
10.71

(3.6%) 90.3% 91.5% 43.1%

CTY 84 954 - - (5.8%) 94.5% 95.3% 59.5%

ATR 152 1,108 - - (1.8%) 94.2% 93.4% 19.8%2

ProMed 10 92 USD 27.04 USD 29.3 0.8% 96.9% 97.7% 57.7%

GAA 3 15 CAD 12.6 CAD 
10.36

- 87.2% 83.9% 69.4%

Gazit 
Development

11 113 NIS 82.9 NIS 77.7 7.3% 97.7% 98.2% -3

Gazit Europe 6 97 EUR 11.46 EUR 12.1 (9.3%) 92.6% 93.0% 60.0%

(*)   Change in same property NOI, compared to the corresponding quarter last year. 

1	 Derived mainly from the presentation of investment property at fair value. 
2	 ATR’s net debt to market capitalization as of March 31, 2010 totaled 1.6%. 
3	 Gazit Development is financed mainly by shareholders’ loans from the Company.
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3)	 Additional operational data:
	 FCR 

-	 In the reporting period, leases were renewed on an area of 24 thousand square meters 
(approximately 258 thousand square feet). The average basic monthly rent for these leases 
rose by 7.1%, to CAD 16.95 per square meter. 

-	 In the reporting period, new leases were signed on an area of 18 thousand square meters 
(approximately 194 thousand square feet), at an average basic monthly rent of CAD 16.3 per 
square meter. 

EQY 
-	 In the reporting period, leases were renewed on an area of 10 thousand square meters 

(approximately 108 thousand square feet). The average basic monthly rent for these leases 
fell by 5.1% to USD 15.5 per square meter. 

-	 In the reporting period, new leases were signed on an area of 14 thousand square meters 
(approximately 151 thousand square feet), at an average basic monthly rent of USD 11.25 per 
square meter. 

Gazit Development 
-	 In the reporting period, leases were renewed on an area of 9.4 thousand square meters 

(approximately 101 thousand square feet). The average basic monthly rent for these leases 
rose by 3%, to NIS 70 per square meter. 

-	 In the reporting period, new leases were signed on an area of 4.9 thousand square meters 
(approximately 53 thousand square feet), at an average basic monthly rent of NIS 108 per 
square meter. 

RSC 
-	 RSC owns 15 senior housing facilities, encompassing 1,650 units. 

-	 As of March 31, 2010, the occupancy rate in the properties of RSC was 86.1% (85% as of March 31, 
2009). The average monthly rent per unit is USD 3,182 and the NOI rate for the reporting period 
is 37.4%. 

-	 The same property NOI has increased by an average of 9.1% compared to the corresponding 
quarter last year. 

-	 Gross debt to market capitalization (derived mainly from the presentation of the fixed assets 
at fair value) totaled 53.9%, as of March 31, 2010. 
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4)	 Data of properties under development, redevelopment, and expansion

Company name Properties under Development

No. of properties Total investment as of 
March 31, 2010  

(NIS in millions)

Cost for completion 
(NIS in millions)

Area (sq. meters in 
thousands)

FCR 3 148 103 15.3

EQY 2 194 35 15.8

Gazit Development 1 114 24 7.5

Gazit Brazil 1 141 71 14.5

ATR 1 - 50 18.4

Total 8 597 283 71.5

Company name Properties under Redevelopment and Expansion

No. of properties Total investment as of 
March 31, 2010 (NIS in 

millions)

Cost for completion  
(NIS in millions)

Area (sq. meters in 
thousands)

FCR 8 229 259 42.2

EQY 1 1 26 2.4

CTY 8 162 384 20.3

Gazit Development 2 161 58 22.8

Total 19 553 727 87.7

B.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development (through a wholly owned subsidiary) closed a transaction to bring in 
REIT 1 Ltd. (“REIT 1”), a public company listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, as a partner with a 49% 
interest in the rights of three shopping centers located in Israel in the towns of Rishon Lezion, Afula and 
Yokneam (“the Properties”), for a total consideration of NIS 315 million (“the consideration”). Part of 
the consideration (NIS 24 million) was paid to the Gazit Development by an allotment of shares in REIT 
1 (which, on the allotment date, represented 4.06% of REIT 1’s issued capital after the allotment). The 
transfer of the holding and payment of the Consideration for 49% of the rights in the Yokneam Property 
is expected to take place in January 2011. Management of the aforesaid shopping centers remains 
in the hands of Gazit Development, which is entitled to annual management and service fees. The 
transaction framework includes a mechanism to guarantee REIT 1 a return over a period of two-four 
years, as well as an incentive mechanism for Gazit Development with respect to surplus revenues. The 
parties have also entered into a cooperation agreement that provides, inter alia, customary separation 
mechanisms, a right of first refusal, etc. 

C.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development (through a wholly owned subsidiary) closed a transaction to bring 
in Harel Insurance Company Ltd. and a wholly owned subsidiary thereof (“Harel”), as a partner with 
a 49% interest in the rights of a shopping center located in Israel in the town of Kfar Saba, for a total 
consideration of NIS 347 million. Management of the aforesaid shopping center remains in the hands of 
Gazit Development, which is entitled to annual management and service fees. The transaction framework 
includes a mechanism to guarantee Harel a return over a period of four years, an incentive mechanism 
for Gazit Development with respect to surplus revenues and a consideration adjustment mechanism 
with respect to the area currently under construction, the consideration for which represents 15% of 
the total consideration for the transaction. The parties have also entered into a cooperation agreement 
that provides, inter alia, customary separation mechanisms, a right of first refusal, etc. 
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D. For details regarding EQY’s acquisition of additional shares in DIM Vastgoed N.V. (“DIM”), refer to note 
3.f of the financial statements. 

E. For details regarding the Company’s private offering to institutional investors of debentures (series 
D), by means of extending the series, refer to note 3.e of the financial statements. 

F. For details regarding the raising of capital by EQY and the Company’s participation in this issuance, 
refer to note 3.g of the financial statements. 

G. For details regarding FCR’s issuance of CAD 125 million par value of debentures, refer to note 3.c of 
the financial statements. 

H. For details regarding the closing of ATR’s partial purchase offer for its debentures (from 2006), refer 
to note 3.d of the financial statements. 

I. For details regarding the grant of stock options to officers and senior employees of the Company, refer 
to note 3.h of the financial statements. 

J. For details regarding the exercise of FCR stock options into FCR shares by a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company, refer to note 3.j of the financial statements.

K. For details regarding the initial public offering on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (“IPO”) by U. Dori 
Construction Ltd. (which is 95.5% held by U. Dori; 71.5% after the IPO), refer to note 3.i of the 
financial statements. 

L. Dividend Distribution Policy 
 Pursuant to the Company’s policy, the Company announces at the end of each year the anticipated 

dividend for the following year. In November 2009, the Company announced that the dividend to be 
declared in 2010 would not be less than NIS 0.37 per share per quarter (NIS 1.48 per share on an 
annualized basis). 

 The above is subject to the existence of adequate amounts of distributable income at the relevant dates 
and is subject to the provisions of any law relating to dividend distributions and to decisions that the 
Company is permitted to take. This includes the appropriation of its income for other purposes and 
the revision of this policy.

 The Company’s dividend growth in the years 1999-2010 is shown in the graph below: 

* Projected, assuming the decision of the Company’s Board of Directors regarding the dividend distribution rate for 2010 
is applied as stated above. 
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2.2	 Financial Status
	 Current assets
	 Current assets, as of March 31, 2010, total NIS 3.2 billion, compared to NIS 4.3 billion as of December 31, 

2009. The decrease is due mainly to the disposal of assets presented as assets held for sale within 
the framework of current assets, as well as to the reduction in cash and equivalents, which were used 
primarily to settle current maturities of non-current liabilities. 

	 Long-term investments, loans and receivables
	 Long-term investments, loans and receivables, as of March 31, 2010, total NIS 180 million, compared 

to NIS 142 million as of December 31, 2009. 

	 Derivatives 
	 As of March 31, 2010, the derivatives arise mainly from swap-type foreign currency transactions, which 

hedge currency exposures on the Group’s properties and are presented at their fair value, in an amount 
of NIS 838 million, compared to NIS 699 million as of December 31, 2009. The increase is due to a rise 
in the fair value of the derivatives. 

	 Investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets, net 
	 Investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets, net, as of March 31, 

2010, total NIS 45.5 billion, compared to NIS 45.9 billion as of December 31, 2009. 

	 In the reporting period, the Group acquired 4 income-producing properties, developed new properties 
and redeveloped existing properties at a total cost of NIS 0.9 billion. The weakening of the US Dollar 
and the Euro against the New Israeli Shekel, after offsetting the strengthening of the Canadian Dollar 
against the New Israeli Shekel, caused a decrease of NIS 1.4 billion in these items. 

	 Current liabilities 
	 Current liabilities, as of March 31, 2010, total NIS 4.1 billion, compared to NIS 4.2 billion at the end of 

2009 and consist primarily of the item “Credit from banks and others” (mainly revolving credit lines) 
and current maturities of non-current liabilities in the amount of NIS 2.4 billion, compared to NIS 2.6 
billion at the end of 2009. 

	 The current assets of NIS 3.2 billion and the approved, unutilized credit lines of NIS 3.9 billion, as well 
as the cash flows provided by operating activities, exceed the current liabilities of the Group. 

	 Non-Current liabilities
	 Non-current liabilities, as of March 31, 2010, totaled NIS 32.8 billion, compared to NIS 34 billion as 

of December 31, 2009. The decrease in this item is due mainly to the weakening of the Euro against 
the New Israeli Shekel and also to the adjustment of liabilities that are linked to the “known” Israeli 
consumer price index, which fell during the reporting period. 

	 Non-controlling interests
	 Non-controlling interests, as of March 31, 2010, mainly consist of the interests of EQY’s other equity 

holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 50.8% of EQY’s equity, the interests of FCR’s other 
equity holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 49.4% of FCR’s equity, the interests of CTY’s 
other equity holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 52.4% of CTY’s equity and also the 
interests of GAA’s other equity holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 34% of GAA’s equity. 

	 The change in this item is mainly due to the minority interest in the profit of subsidiaries, to EQY’s and 
FCR’s issuance of shares in the reporting period, net of share acquisitions in EQY by a company wholly 
owned by the Company, to EQY’s acquisition of shares in DIM and to the weakening of the Euro against 
the New Israeli Shekel in the reporting period, which reduced the NIS value of CTY’s equity. 
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	 Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company
	 The decrease in equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company from NIS 5,189 million as 

of December 31, 2009 to NIS 5,103 million as of March 31, 2010 results mainly from the decrease in 
other capital reserves in the amount of NIS 254 million (mostly due to foreign currency translation 
adjustments of foreign operations as a result of the weakening of the Euro against the New Israeli 
Shekel) and a dividend of NIS 51 million declared by the Company. Offset against the above amounts 
is the net income of NIS 218 million attributable to the equity holders of the Company in the reporting 
period and the exercise of stock options into Company shares in the amount of NIS 1 million. 

	 Equity per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company as of March 31, 2010 totaled NIS 36.8 
per share, compared to NIS 37.4 per share as of December 31, 2009. This is after a dividend distribution 
of NIS 0.7 per share in the reporting period. 

	 Ratio of debt to total assets
	 The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing net debt to its total assets (derived mainly from the presentation 

of investment property on the basis of its fair value) stood at 63.0% as of March 31, 2010, compared to 
63.7% as of December 31, 2009. 

	 The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing debt to its total assets (derived mainly from the presentation 
of investment property on the basis of its fair value) stood at 64.4% as of March 31, 2010, compared to 
65.3% as of December 31, 2009. 

	 The ratio of the Group’s net interest-bearing debt to the Group companies’ total market capitalization 
stood at 60.8% as of March 31, 2010, compared to 62.8% as of December 31, 2009. 

	 The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing debt to the Group companies’ total market capitalization stood 
at 62.3% as of March 31, 2010, compared to 64.4% as of December 31, 2009. 

	 During 2009 and in the reporting period, in parallel with making further investments, the Group issued 
capital, signed contracts for the partial sale of properties (be means of introducing partners), sold 
properties and financial holdings and reduced the level of its financial; leverage compared to 2008. The 
Group will continue considering opportunities to dispose of properties and operations that are not part 
of its core business (including by way of partial sale to partners), the merger of synergetic operations 
and the sale of financial holdings, this being in order to use its capital more efficiently. 
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2.3	 Results of Operations
A. The operating results are as follows:

For the three months ended March 31 For the year ended 
December 31 2009

2010 2009

NIS in millions (other than net earnings per share data)

Property rental income 1,138  1,001  4,084 

Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual works 
performed 156  121  596 

Total revenues 1,294  1,122  4,680 

Rental property operating expenses 408  342  1,369 

Cost of sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed 145  113  554 

Total cost of revenues 553  455  1,923 

Gross profit 741  667  2,757 

Fair value loss on investment property and investment property 
under development, net

(46) (165) (1,922)

General and administrative expenses (163) (153) (584)

Other income 22  433  777 

Other expenses (1) (9) (41)

Company’s share in losses of associates, net *) -  (96) (268)

Operating income 553  677  719 

Financial expenses (369) (483) (1,793)

Financial income 216  171  1,551 

Increase (decrease) in value of investments -  (28) 81 

Income before taxes on income 400  337  558 

Taxes on income 83  59  (142)

Net income 317  278  700 

Attributable to:

	 Equity holders of the Company 218  267  1,101 

	 Non-controlling interests 99  11  (401)

317  278  700 

Net earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the 
Company (in NIS) 

Basic net earnings 1.57  2.14  8.49 

Diluted net earnings 1.56  2.13  8.47 

*)   Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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The comprehensive income is as follows:

For the three months ended March 31 For the year ended 
December 31 2009

2010 2009

NIS in millions 

Net income 317  278  700 

Other comprehensive income (loss) (net of tax effect):

Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign operations (476) 1,146  1,022 

Fair value adjustments of cash flow hedges (25) (116) (51)

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale- financial assets (1) 12  45 

Fair value adjustments of revaluation of fixed assets (1) 8  (8)

Fair value adjustments of initially consolidated investment -  22  22 

Group’s share in other comprehensive loss of associates, net -  (15) (8)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net (503) 1,057  1,022 

Total comprehensive income (loss) (186) 1,335  1,722 

Attributable to:

	 Equity holders of the Company (81) 711  1,606 

	 Non-controlling interests (105) 624  116 

(186) 1,335  1,722 

B.	 Analysis of Results of Operations for the First Quarter of 2010
	 Property rental income
	 The 14% increase compared to the corresponding quarter last year is due mainly to the initial consolidation 

of the operating results of ATR, as well as to the initial activation of properties whose development has 
been completed and the purchase of properties. 

	 Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed 
	 The total revenues from the sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed amounted to 

NIS 156 million in the reporting period, comprising NIS 36 million from the sale of buildings and land 
and NIS 120 million from contractual works performed; this compares with a total of NIS 121 million 
in the corresponding quarter last year, comprising NIS 22 million from the sale of buildings and land 
and NIS 99 million from contractual works performed. 

	 The gross profit from this activity amounted to NIS 11 million in the reporting period, compared to a 
gross loss of NIS 1 million in the corresponding quarter last year. 

	 Rental property operating expenses 
	 The increase in rental property operating expenses, compared to the corresponding quarter last year, 

is due mainly to the initial consolidation of the operating results of ATR. Rental property operating 
expenses, as a percentage of property rental income, amounted to 35.8%, compared to 34.2% in the 
corresponding quarter last year. 
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	 Gross profit from property rental activity 
	 Gross profit from property rental activity in the operating period grew by 11% to NIS 730 million (64.2% 

of total property rental income); this compares to NIS 659 million (65.8% of property rental income) 
in the corresponding quarter last year. The increase is due mainly to the initial consolidation of the 
operating results of ATR. 

	 Fair value loss on investment property and investment property under development, net 
	 The Company applies the fair value model, as prescribed in International Accounting Standard No. 40 

(Revised) – “Investment Property”. As a result of implementing this standard, the Group wrote down, in 
the reporting period, the fair value of its properties by a gross amount of NIS 46 million (the Company’s 
pre-tax share therein amounted to NIS 14 million). This compares to a fair value loss of NIS 165 million 
in the corresponding quarter last year (the Company’s pre-tax share therein amounted to NIS 34 
million). The fair value loss on investment property is due mainly to the rise in the cash flow cap rates 
and, in some of the regions in which the Company operates, to a certain decline in the cash flows. 

	 General and administrative expenses 
	 The increase in general and administrative expenses is due mainly to the initial consolidation of the 

operating results of ATR, as well as professional expenses of a non-recurring nature that include 
expenses associated with EQY’s acquisition of the additional shares in DIM. 

Other income 
	 This item consists mainly of a capital gain from the sale of properties by CTY, compared to a gain of 

NIS 417 million from an increase in the holding rate arising from the acquisition of ATR shares and 
CTY shares in the corresponding quarter last year. 

	 Company’s share in losses of associates, net
	 The expense in the corresponding quarter last year arises mainly from the Company’s share in the 

losses of ATR, mainly as a result of adjusting the fair value of investment property with respect to 
income-producing property, property under development and land. 

	 Financial expenses 
	 The decrease in financial expenses is due mainly to the loss of NIS 144 million from the revaluation 

of derivatives, which was recognized in the corresponding quarter last year (in the reporting period 
– financial income). The financial expenses in the corresponding quarter last year reflect an average 
nominal annual interest of 4.7% for the Group’s loans. 

	 Financial income 
	 Financial income is comprised of a gain of NIS 152 million from the revaluation of derivatives, which 

was primarily with respect to hedging transactions (mainly of the swap-type) (in the corresponding 
period last year – financial expenses), a gain of NIS 16 million from the realization of securities (in 
the corresponding period last year – NIS 44 million), a gain of NIS 4 million from the early redemption 
of debentures and convertible debentures (in the corresponding period last year – NIS 67 million) 
and dividend income of NIS 1 million (in the corresponding period last year – NIS 5 million). In the 
corresponding period last year, financial income also included interest income of NIS 40 million from 
an associate (ATR). 

	 Taxes on Income 
	 Taxes on income in the reporting period comprise deferred tax expenses of NIS 34 million, which arise 

mainly from an increase in the deferred tax liabilities relating to the change in the fair value of financial 
derivatives with respect to hedging transactions (mainly of the swap-type), and the Group companies’ 
current tax expenses of NIS 49 million. 
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2.4	 Liquidity and Sources of Finance
	 The Group has a policy of maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity that enables the pursuit of 

business opportunities in its areas of operations. 

	 The sources of the Group’s liquid assets are its cash reserves (derived from its income-producing 
properties), credit facilities, mortgages and long-term loans and raisings of debentures, convertible 
debentures and equity. As stated, the Group uses these liquid resources in the acquisition, development 
and redevelopment of income-producing properties, the settlement of liabilities, investments in 
associates, other investments and the payment of dividends. 

	 As of March 31, 2010, the liquid assets available to the Group, including short-term investments, totaled 
NIS 2,008 million, compared to NIS 2,443 million as of December 31, 2009. In addition, as of March 31, 
2010, the Group had unutilized approved credit facilities available for immediate drawdown of NIS 3.9 
billion, compared to NIS 3.6 billion as of December 31, 2009. 

	 In aggregate, the Group has liquid balances and unutilized credit facilities available for immediate 
drawdown totaling NIS 5.9 billion. 

	 As of March 31, 2010, the Group also had unpledged investment property, which is carried in the books 
at its fair value of NIS 25.1 billion. 

	 As of March 31, 2010, the Group has negative working capital amounting to NIS 917 million. The Group 
has approved, unutilized credit lines amounting to NIS 3.9 billion, which can be utilized in the coming 
year. In line with the nature of its activities, the Group customarily finances its activities by means of 
revolving credit lines as interim financing and raises capital and long-term debt from time to time, in 
accordance with the state of the market, instead of the aforementioned revolving credit lines. In addition, 
the Company’s management is taking action to renew secured credit facilities, whose repayment 
commences in the coming year. In light of the aforementioned resources that are available to the 
Group, together with the addition of the positive cash flows from operating activities, the Company’s 
Board of Directors has determined that the existence of negative working capital is not sufficient to 
indicate that either the Company or the Group has a liquidity problem. 

	 Cash Flows
	 Cash inflows from operating activities in the reporting period totaled NIS 88 million, compared to NIS 43 

million in the corresponding period last year. 

	 In the reporting period, the Group’s activities were funded by means of capital raised by the Company 
and consolidated subsidiaries totaling NIS 401 million, the issuance of debentures in a net amount of 
NIS 326 million and the disposal of short-term investments and available-for-sale securities in a net 
amount of NIS 18 million. The proceeds from the above sources were used primarily to finance investing 
activities for the purchase of investment property and fixed assets amounting to NIS 198 million, the 
repayment of loans and the reduction in the utilization of credit facilities in a net amount of NIS 839 
million and the acquisition of shares from the minority equity holders in consolidated subsidiaries 
amounting in total to NIS 53 million. 

3.	 Reporting of Exposures to Market Risks and their Management
	 The individuals responsible for managing and reporting the Company’s market risks are the President 

and the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. 

	 Since March 21, 2010, the approval date of the Company’s annual report for 2009, there have not been 
any material changes in the types of market risks and their management. 
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 As to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, from January 1, 2010 through March 31, 2010, the 
New Israeli Shekel devalued against the Canadian Dollar by 1.3%, and appreciated against the US 
Dollar and the Euro by 1.6% and 8.3%, respectively. As to the effect of exchange rates on the Company’s 
equity, refer to the linkage bases report as of March 31, 2010, attached as Appendix A to the Board 
of Directors’ report. In addition, from March 31, 2010 until shortly before the date of approval of this 
report, the New Israeli Shekel appreciated against the Euro and the Canadian Dollar by 4.2% and 1.7%, 
respectively, and devalued against the US Dollar by 2.9%. 

 As a result of the weakening of the Euro subsequent to the reporting date, as referred to above, and 
assuming an exchange rate of NIS 4.78 for the Euro (which is the rate on the date of approval of the 
financial statements), the equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders is expected to fall by 
NIS 165 million (in the capital reserves item “Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign 
operations”). On the other hand, under the same assumptions, the Company expects to recognize a 
gain of NIS 47 million from the revaluation of foreign currency forward transactions (mainly swap-type 
transactions) intended as currency hedges on the Company’s cash flows. 

 In addition, some of the Company’s liabilities are linked to changes in the Israeli consumer price 
index (with respect to operations in Israel). From January 1, 2010 through March 31, 2010, the (known) 
consumer price index declined by 0.95%. As to the effect of changes in the consumer price index on the 
equity of the Company, refer to the linkage bases report as of March 31, 2010, attached as Appendix 
A to the Directors’ report. Furthermore, from March 31, 2010 until shortly before the date of approval 
of this report, the (known) consumer price index rose by 1.0%. 

 During the period from January 1, 2010 through the date that the financial statements were signed, the 
individuals responsible for managing and reporting the Company’s market risks (the Company’s President 
and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer) have held and continue to hold frequent discussions on the 
exposure to market risks, including changes in exchange rates and interest rates, and the Company’s 
management discusses the issue on a weekly basis. During the above period, the Company’s Board of 
Directors discussed said risks and the Company’s policy regarding them during the meetings at which 
the financial statements for December 31, 2009 and March 31, 2010 were approved. 

 As in the past, it has been the Group’s policy in the aforesaid period to maintain as close an economic 
correlation as possible between the currency in which properties are acquired and the currency in 
which the liabilities to finance the acquisition of those properties are taken out (on a proportionate 
consolidation basis), with an intent to hold its equity in the currencies of the various markets in which 
it is active, and in the same proportions as the assets in each such currency bear to the total assets, 
while making occasional transactions to minimize the said exposure to changes in exchange rates. 

 As of March 31, 2010, the economic exposure of the Company’s equity (NIS 5.1 billion) to the various 
currencies is distributed as follows:  

 As of March 31, 2010, the economic exposure of the Company’s equity (NIS 5.1 billion) to the various 
currencies is distributed as follows:  

USD 
≤¥•

NIS 
µ•

EUR
≥π•

CAD
 ≥≤•
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4.	 Corporate Governance Aspects
4.1	 Donations
	 The Company customarily makes donations to charities and to projects for community welfare and 

education in the various countries in which it operates. Within the framework of this activity the Company 
has pledged to support a number of agencies through a perennial donation framework, as follows:

A.	 The Company makes donations to Tel-Aviv University, which operates an institute focusing 
on research and studies of all manner of real estate-related topics (The Chaim Katzman – 
Gazit-Globe Real Estate Institute). The Company has pledged to make an annual donation of 
USD 150,000 for a period of 7 years (commenced in 2005). 

B.	 The Company donates to the “College for All” charity – a not-for-profit organization working 
to close the gaps in education by means of creating equal opportunities. The organization 
strives to realize its vision of excellence through the provision of learning and other tools to 
students with ability and motivation, who come from underprivileged neighborhoods. The goal 
is to encourage such students to embark on academic studies. Within the framework of the 
activities of this organization, the Company has pledged to provide assistance to a group of 
students for a period of 5 years (commenced in 2005). 

C.	 The Company has adopted a battalion of front-line conscripts within the framework of the 
“Adopt a Front-Line Soldier” Project. Within the framework of this project, the Company has 
pledged to make an annual donation of NIS 100,000 for 3 years (commenced in 2007). 

	 In addition, the Group makes donations to numerous other bodies. 

	 During the reporting period, the Group’s donations amounted to NIS 904 thousand. 

4.2	 Disclosure Regarding the Financial Statements’ Approval Process 
	 As resolved by the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company’s Audit and Balance Sheet Committee is 

responsible for oversight in the Company. As part of this role, the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee 
discusses, inter alia, the Company’s financial statements, including audit topics relating to oversight, 
and presents its recommendations to the Board of Directors. The members of the Audit and Balance 
Sheet Committee are Messrs. Yair Orgler (the Chairman of the Committee), Noga Knaz, Chaim Ben-
Dor and Eliahu Shahar. 

	 Within the framework of the process of the Company’s financial statements being approved by the 
Board of Directors and their being discussed by the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee, a draft of the 
financial statements, and a draft of the other parts of the quarterly report too, as well as a draft of the 
presentation reviewing the operations in the reporting period, are sent for the perusal of the members 
of the Board several days before the date of the meeting of the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee 
and the meeting of the Board of Directors. 

	 During the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee’s meeting and during the Board of Directors’ meeting, 
the CFO, Mr. Gadi Cunia, provides a review of the Company’s financial position, its operating results and 
its cash flows, and presents data concerning the Company’s activities and their comparison with prior 
periods. A discussion takes place during which the Company’s management (including the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, the Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President of the 
Company and the CFO of the Company) reviews the major financial reporting issues that have arisen 
in the course of preparing the financial statements, including a review of transactions, if any, not 
within the normal course of business, the significant assessments and critical estimates used in the 
financial statements, the accounting policies applied and the changes thereto, if any, and the possible 
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effect on the financial statements of significant risks and exposures; management also responds to 
questions from the directors. The Company’s independent auditors are present at meetings of the 
Audit and Balance Sheet Committee and of the Board of Directors at which the financial statements 
are discussed and approved in order to both respond to questions, if any, raised in connection with the 
financial statements, and also to bring up other matters that they wish to place before the Committee 
or the Board. The Audit and Balance Sheet Committee draws up its recommendations with regard to 
the approval of the financial statements and these are presented to the Board of Directors. Following 
the aforementioned discussion, a vote is taken to approve the financial statements. 

	 The meeting of the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee that discussed the financial statements was 
held on May 20, 2010, with Messrs. Yair Orgler (the Chairman of the Committee), Noga Knaz and Chaim 
Ben-Dor being present. At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on May 23, 2010, at which said 
financial statements were approved, all members of the Board of Directors serving on the date of 
approval of the Periodic Report were present (for the names of the members of the Board of Directors 
and their other particulars, refer to the Immediate Report dated April 8, 2010, “Status of Senior Officers”, 
reference number 2010-01-442437; the information contained in the aforesaid Immediate Report is 
hereby presented by means of this reference). Among others, the Company’s President, its CFO and 
representatives of the independent auditors, as referred to above, were also present. 

5.	 Disclosure Regarding the Financial Reporting of the Company 
5.1	 Additional Information and Subsequent Events

A.	 For details regarding a debenture offering by FCR, refer to note 4a of the financial statements.

B.	 For details regarding a grant of stock options to the Company’s officers, refer to note 4b of the 
financial statements.

5.2	 Critical Accounting Estimates
	 In the course of preparing the financial statements, the Group’s management is required to make 

estimates and assessments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 

	 Management bases its estimates and assessments, including those prepared by independent external 
professional parties (e.g., appraisers and assessors), on past experience and other factors that, in its 
opinion, are relevant taking the particular circumstances into account. Actual results could differ from 
these assessments under different assumptions or conditions. 

	 In the reporting period, no changes occurred in the critical estimates which have the potential to 
materially affect the financial statements, apart from the valuation of derivatives. 

6.	 Disclosure Regarding Fair Value of Investment Property
	 No material changes took place in the fair value of investment property during the reporting period. 
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7.	 Update to Details Concerning the Corporation’s Publicly-Held 
Commitment Certificates
A.	 In February 2010, the Company completed a private offering to institutional investors of NIS 177.5 

million par value of debentures (series D), by means of extending the series, for a consideration 
amounting to NIS 200 million.

B.	 On April 12, 2010, Midroog announced that the A1 rating on all series of the Company’s debentures 
in circulation had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised from Negative to 
Stable. 

C.	 On October 29, 2009, the Company received a notification from Union Bank Trust Company 
Ltd. (“Union”), in which Union gave notice that it was resigning from its position as trustee for 
the holders of the Company’s debentures (series B), this being in accordance with the trust 
deed dated May 16, 2004 and Section 35N(b) of the Securities Law, 1968. In February 2010, the 
general meeting of debenture holders (series B) approved the appointment of Clal Finance 
Trust Services 2007 Ltd. (“Clal”) as the replacement trustee for the debentures (series B). On 
April 13, 2010, the Tel Aviv District Court issued a ruling, pursuant to which it gave its approval 
to the appointment of Clal as the trustee of the debentures (series B), in place of Union. On 
May 16, 2010, an amendment to the trust deed was signed, pursuant to which, from the date 
on which the amendment to the token pledge (in the amount of NIS 1), which was created in 
favor of Union, is registered with the Registrar of Companies, Clal will take the place of Union, 
for all intents and purposes, in relation to the latter’s role as trustee for the holders of the 
Company’s debentures (series B), in accordance with the trust deed. 

D.	 Collateral for debentures (series J) 
	 The Company’s commitments pursuant to the debentures (series J) are secured by a fixed, 

first-ranking charge on the rights relating to properties, as detailed in the Company’s immediate 
report from January 18, 2009 (reference no. 2009-01-016440) (“the preliminary report”) and 
in the shelf offer report from February 19, 2009 (reference no. 2009-01-040392) (“the shelf 
offer report”; the information contained in the preliminary report and in the shelf offer report 
is hereby presented by means of this reference). No material changes have occurred in the 
value of the pledged properties, compared to their value as presented in the Periodic Report 
for 2009; the only exception to the aforesaid is in relation to the pledged property known as 
“G Cinema”, which is presented in the Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2010 
in an amount of NIS 320 million, compared to NIS 257 million in the Periodic Report for 
2009. The Company has attached the latest valuation of G Cinema as of March 31, 2010 to its 
financial statements. 

May 23, 2010

Date of Approval Chaim Katzman Aharon Soffer

of Board of Directors’ Report Chairman of the Board of Directors President 
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Appendix A to the Board of Directors’ Report 

Linkage Bases Report

As of March 31, 2010

Linked 
to the 

consumer 
price index

In USD 
or linked 
thereto

In CAD 
or linked 
thereto

In EUR 
or linked 
thereto

In non-
index-

linked NIS

Other-
currencies

Unlinked Total

NIS in millions

Monetary assets

Cash and cash equivalents -  323  27  908  167  155  -  1,580 

Short-term loans and investments -  49  23  107  82  44  -  305 

Trade receivables, accrued income and 
other accounts receivable

114  67  61  76  38  91  231  678 

Long-term investments, loans and 
receivables

11  58  58  -  -  -  53  180 

Available-for-sale securities -  -  -  -  -  -  267  267 

Long-term derivatives -  -  -  -  -  -  838  838 

Deferred taxes -  -  -  -  -  -  81  81 

125  497  169  1,091  287  290  1,470  3,929 

Non-monetary assets 1 -  11,660  15,784  15,136  2,144  860  664  46,248 

Total assets 125  12,157  15,953  16,227  2,431  1,150  2,134  50,177 

Monetary liabilities

Credit from banks and others 32  -  25  217  37  -  -  311 

Trade and other payables and other credit 
balances

54  212  382  412  371  79  78  1,588 

Advances from customers and buyers of 
apartments

-  -  -  -  -  -  83  83 

Debentures 5,510 2 2,877  3,072  955  1,9923  -  -  14,406 

Debentures convertible into shares of 
investees

19  -  653  187  -  -  -  859 

Interest-bearing liabilities to financial 
institutions and others

52  3,829  5,053  5,902  46  2,721  -  17,603 

Long-term derivatives -  -  -  -  -  -  284  284 

Other financial liabilities 17  48  59  27  -  29  -  180 

Employee benefit liabilities, net -  2  -  -  2  -  -  4 

Deferred taxes -  -  -  -  -  -  1,618  1,618 

Total liabilities 5,684  6,968  9,244  7,700  2,448  2,829  2,063  36,936 

Assets, net of liabilities (5,559) 5,189  6,709  8,527  (17) (1,679) 71  13,241 

1	 Mainly investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets. 
2	 Of the total of NIS 5,510 million, the Company has cross-currency swap transactions on an amount of NIS 2,159 million. 
3	 Of the total of NIS 1,992 million, the Company has cross-currency swap transactions on an amount of NIS 1,864 million. 
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UPDATE TO THE DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS FOR THE 
2009 PERIODIC REPORT OF GAZIT-GLOBE LTD. (“the Company”)
Pursuant to Regulation 39A of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970, details are 
presented below concerning material changes and developments that have taken place in the Company’s business 
since the publication of the Company’s Periodic Report for 2009 (“the Periodic Report”), for each matter that has 
to be described in the Periodic Report. 

Update to Section 3 – Dividend distributions in the last two years 
A.	 On April 12, 2010, the Company distributed a dividend to its equity holders in the amount of NIS 51,370 

thousand (NIS 0.37 per share). 

B.	 For details regarding the dividend declared by the Company subsequent to reporting date, refer to note 
4.e of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 6 – Acquisition, development and management of shopping centers in the U.S.A. 
For details regarding the closing of EQY’s purchase offer for DIM and EQY’s intention to act in making a forced 
purchase of the remaining DIM shares held by the public, refer to note 3.f of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 7 – Acquisition, development and management of shopping centers in Canada 
A.	 For details regarding FCR’s offering to the public in Canada, by means of a shelf prospectus of CAD 75 

million par value of unsecured debentures (series 1), which bear annual interest at the rate of 5.70%, 
refer to note 4.a of the financial statements. 

B.	 For details regarding the exercise of 402 thousand FCR stock options into 402 thousand FCR shares by 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in March 2010, refer to note 3.j of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 9 – Acquisition, development and management of shopping centers in Central and Eastern Europe 
For details regarding the closing of ATR’s partial purchase offer for EUR 80.2 million par value of its debentures 
(series 2006) in January 2010, refer to note 3.d of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 10 – Entrepreneurship, development, management and construction of real estate projects 

For details regarding publication of a prospectus for the initial public offering on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, on 
February 26, 2010, by U. Dori Construction Ltd., and the issuance to the public of 7 million shares and 2.3 million 
stock options, on March 14, 2010, refer to note 3.i of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 11.2 – Gazit Development 
A.	 For details regarding the closing of an agreement by Gazit Development, in January 2010, to bring in 

REIT 1 as a partner with a 49% interest in the rights of three shopping centers located in Israel in the 
towns of Rishon Lezion, Afula and Yokneam for a consideration of NIS 315 million, refer to section 3.a 
of the financial statements. 

B.	 For details regarding the closing of a transaction by Gazit Development, in January 2010, for the sale of 49% 
of the rights in a shopping center located in Israel in the town of Kfar Saba to the Harel Insurance Company 
Ltd. Group for a total consideration of NIS 347 million, refer to section 3.b of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 15 – Human capital 
For details regarding the grant of 50 thousand stock options to the Company’s officers, refer to note 4.b of the 
financial statements. 

Update to Section 17 - Financing
On April 12, 2010, Midroog announced that the A1 rating on all series of the Company’s debentures in circulation 
had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised from Negative to Stable. 
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INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, December 31, 2009

2010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,580 1,219 2,018

Short-term investments and loans 305 76 265

Available-for-sale securities 123 450 160

Trade and unbilled receivables 280 255 273

Other accounts receivable 374 387 340

Inventories of buildings and apartments for sale 395 426 419

Income taxes receivable 24 12 27

3,081 2,825 3,502

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 112 31 748

3,193 2,856 4,250

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Investments in associates 44 1,400 45

Investment in debt component of convertible debentures - 896 -

Share options and conversion component of debentures - 147 -

Long-term investments, loans and receivables 180 106 142

Available-for-sale securities 144 303 148

Financial derivatives 838 521 699

Investment property 41,923 38,896 42,174

Investment property under development 2,872 3,239 2,994

Inventories of land for construction 18 24 17

Fixed assets 695 773 715

Goodwill 171 214 178

Other intangible assets 18 32 21

Deferred taxes 81 119 121

46,984 46,670 47,254

50,177 49,526 51,504

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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March 31, December 31, 2009

2010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Credit from banks and others 311 186 609

Current maturities of long-term liabilities 2,128 2,154 1,999

Trade payables 458 434 603

Advances from customers and buyers of apartments 83 115 92

Current tax liabilities 51 48 27

Other accounts payable 1,028 802 869

Dividend declared 51 43 50

4,110 3,782 4,249

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

Debentures 13,843 10,910 13,862

Debentures convertible into shares of investees 850 496 879

Interest-bearing liabilities to financial institutions and others 16,047 19,584 17,162

Financial derivatives 284 348 241

Other financial liabilities 180 114 156

Employee benefit liabilities, net 4 3 5

Deferred taxes 1,618 1,945 1,684

32,826 33,400 33,989

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY:

Share capital 192 179 192

Share premium 2,852 2,465 2,848

Retained earnings 2,919 2,059 2,751

Foreign currency translation adjustments (889) (618) (600)

Other capital reserves 54 (49) 23

Loans to purchase shares (4) (4) (4)

Treasury shares (21) (21) (21)

5,103 4,011 5,189

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 8,138 8,333 8,077

Total equity 13,241 12,344 13,266

50,177 49,526 51,504

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

May 23, 2010

Date of approval of the financial 
statements

Chaim Katzman
Chairman of the Board

Aharon Soffer
President

Gadi Cunia
CFO

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31,  2009

2010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions (except per share amounts)

Property rental income 1,138 1,001 4,084

Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed 156 121 596

Total revenues 1,294 1,122 4,680

Rental property operating expenses 408 342 1,369

Cost of sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed 145 113 554

Total cost of revenues 553 455 1,923

Gross profit 741 667 2,757

Decrease in fair value of investment property and investment property under 
development, net

(46) (165) (1,922)

General and administrative expenses (163) (153) (584)

Other income 22 433 777

Other expenses (1) (9) (41)

Company's share in losses of associates, net - (* (96) (268)

Operating income 553 677 719

Financial expenses (369) (483) (1,793)

Financial income 216 171 1,551

Increase (decrease) in value of investments - (28) 81

Income before taxes on income 400 337 558

Taxes on income 83 59 (142)

Net income 317 278 700

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 218 267 1,101

Non-controlling interests 99 11 (401)

317 278 700

Net earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company (in NIS):

Basic net earnings 1.57 2.14 8.49

Diluted net earnings 1.56 2.13 8.47

*) Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended December 
31, 2009

2010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions 

Net income 317 278 700

Other comprehensive income (loss) (after tax effect):

Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign operations (476) 1,146 1,022

Fair value adjustments of cash flow hedges (25) (116) (51)

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale financial assets (1) 12 45

Fair value adjustments of revaluation of fixed assets (1) 8 (8)

Fair value adjustments of initially consolidated investment, net - 22 22

Group's share in other comprehensive loss, net of associates - (15) (8)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (503) 1,057 1,022

Total comprehensive income (loss) (186) 1,335 1,722

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (81) 711 1,606

Non-controlling interests *) (105) 624 116

(186) 1,335 1,722

‎*) Composition of comprehensive income (loss) attributable 

 to non-controlling interests:

Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 99 11 (401)

Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign operations (187) 608 473

Fair value adjustments of cash flow hedges 1 (23) 5

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale financial assets (18) 10 21

Fair value adjustments of initially consolidated investment - 18 18

(105) 624 116

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME



  46 | GAZIT-GLOBE • Q1 2010  

INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share

capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

Other 
capital 

reserves

Less - 
loans to 

purchase  
shares

Treasury 
shares

Total Non-
controlling 

interests

Total 
equity

Unaudited

NIS in millions

Balance as of January 1, 
2010 (audited) 192 2,848 2,751 (600) 23 (4) (21) 5,189 8,077 13,266

Total comprehensive 
income (loss) - - 218 (289) (10) - - (81) (105) (186)

Revaluation of loans to 
purchase shares - (* 4 - - (3) - - 1 - 1

Repayment of loans to 
purchase shares - - - (* - - - (* - - - -

Reversal of fixed assets 
revaluation reserve and 
of revaluation reserve 
of initially consolidated 
investment - - - - - - (* - - (* - - (*

Cost of share-based 
payment - - 1 - (1) - - - - -

Dividend declared - - - - 3 - - 3 5 8

Issuance of share capital 
to non-controlling 
interests - - (51) - - - - (51) - (51)

Acquisition of shares 
from non-controlling 
interests - - - - (* 42 - - 42 407 449

Acquisition of convertible 
debentures in 
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (61) (61)

Dividend to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - (2) (2)

- - - - - - - - (183) (183)

Balance as of March 
31, 2010 192 2,852 2,919 (889) 54 (4) (21) 5,103 8,138 13,241

*‎) Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share

capital

Share 
premium 

Retained 
earnings

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

Other 
capital 

reserves

Less - 
loans to 

purchase 
shares

Treasury 
shares

Total Non-
controlling 

interests

Total 
equity

Unaudited

NIS in millions

Balance as of January 1, 2009 
(audited)

179 2,465 1,827 (1,141) 29 (4) (21) 3,334 7,772 11,106

Total comprehensive income 
(loss)

- - 267 523 (79) - - 711 624 1,335

Exercise of stock options into 
Company shares

- (* - (* - - - (* - - - (* - - (*

Revaluation of loans to 
purchase shares

- - - (* - - - (* - - - -

Revaluation of initially 
consolidated investment

- - 8 - - - - 8 35 43

Cost of share-based payment - - - - 1  - - 1 2 3

Dividend declared - - (43) - - - - (43) - (43)

Issuance of share capital to 
non-controlling interests

- - - - - - - - 181 181

Acquisition of shares from 
non-controlling interests

- - - - - - - - (195) (195)

Repurchase of convertible 
debentures in subsidiary

- - - - - - - - (6) (6)

Non-controlling interests in 
initially consolidated company

- - - - - - - - 130 130

Expiration of stock options in 
subsidiary

- - - - - - - - (1) (1)

Repurchase of shares in 
subsidiary

- - - - - - - - (29) (29)

Dividend to non-controlling 
interests

- - - - - - - - (180) (180)

Balance as of March 31, 2009 179 2,465 2,059 (618) (49) (4) (21) 4,011 8,333 12,344

*‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

Other 
capital 

reserves

Less - 
loans to 

purchase  
shares

Treasury 
shares

Total Non-
controlling 

interests

Total 
equity

Audited

NIS in millions

Balance as of January 1, 2009 179 2,465 1,827 (1,141) 29 (4) (21) 3,334 7,772 11,106

Total comprehensive income 
(loss) - - 1,101 541 (36) - - 1,606 116 1,722

Issuance of shares less issuance 
expenses 13 378 - - - - - 391 - 391

Exercise of stock options into 
Company shares - (* 5 - - (5) - - - (* - - (*

Revaluation of loans to purchase 
shares - - - (* - - - (* - - - -

Repayment of loans to purchase 
shares - - - - - - (* - - (* - - (*

Waiver of salary by controlling 
shareholder, net - - - - 32 - - 32 - 32

Reversal of fixed assets 
revaluation reserve - - 1 - (1) - - - - -

Revaluation of initially 
consolidated investment - - 8 - - - - 8 35 43

Cost of share-based payment - - - - 4 - - 4 13 17

Dividend declared - - (186) - - - - (186) - (186)

Issuance of share capital to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - 731 731

Acquisition of shares from non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - (218) (218)

Purchase of convertible 
debentures in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (14) (14)

Non-controlling interests in 
initially consolidated company - - - - - - - - 150 150

Issuance of convertible 
debentures and stock options in 
subsidiary - - - - - - - - 20 20

Expiration of stock options in 
subsidiary - - - - - - - - (1) (1)

Repurchase of shares in 
subsidiary - - - - - - - - (29) (29)

Dividend in kind to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - 155 155

Dividend to non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - (653) (653)

Balance as of December 31, 2009 192 2,848 2,751 (600) 23 (4) (21) 5,189 8,077 13,266

*‎) Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31,  

20092010 *) 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions 

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income 317 278 700

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Adjustments to the profit or loss items: 

Financial expenses, net 153 312 242

Company's share in losses of associates, net - **) 96 268

Decrease in fair value of investment property and investment property under development, net 46 165 1,922

Depreciation and amortization of fixed and intangible assets (including impairment of goodwill) 28 16 75

Taxes on income 83 59 (142)

Revaluation of conversion component and stock options to fair value, net - 25 (84)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets - 3 3

Capital gain (loss), net (17) (2) 3

Change in employee benefit liabilities, net - **) (1) 1

Loss (gain) from dilution of holding rate in subsidiaries, net - (8) 1

Gain from increase in holding rate in investees - (417) (775)

Cost of share-based payment 8 3 17

301 251 1,531

Changes in asset and liability items:

Decrease (increase) in trade and unbilled receivables and other accounts receivable (76) (80) 95

Decrease (increase) in inventories of buildings and land for sale less advances from customers 
and buyers of apartments, net

16 (9) 31

Decrease in trade and other accounts payable (33) (2) (43)

Increase (decrease) in tenants' security deposits, net 2 (3) 3

(91) (94) 86

Net cash provided by operating activities (before financing and taxes) 527 435 2,317

Cash received and paid during the period for:

Interest paid (448) (443) (1,535)

Interest received 28 54 191

Taxes paid (19) (6) (69)

Taxes received - - **) 3

Dividend received - **) 3 19

(439) (392) (1,391)

88 43 926

‎*) Reclassified, see Note 2e.

**) Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31,  2009

2010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions 

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment in initially consolidated company previously presented as available-for-sale security 
(a)

- 8 8

Initial proportional consolidation of company previously included at equity (b) - - 1,262

Investment in shares of investees - (35) **) (166) **)

Acquisition, construction and development of investment property (910) (468) (2,706)

Investments in fixed assets (3) (24) (72)

Proceeds from sale of investment property and investment property under development 715 24 95

Grant of long-term loans (2) (1) (16)

Repayment of long-term loans granted - 2 8

Short-term investments, net (30) - (* 19

Investment in available-for-sale financial assets (48) (73) (177)

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 96 709 1,068

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (182) 142 (677)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Issuance of shares less issuance expenses - - 391

Repayment of loans granted for purchase of Company shares - (* - - (*

Exercise of stock options into Company shares 1 - (* - (*

Issuance of share capital to non-controlling interests, net 400 107 647

Acquisition of shares of subsidiaries (53) (88) **) (103) **)

Dividend paid to equity holders of the Company (50) (43) (179)

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (88) (98) (468)

Receipt of long-term loans 290 1,426 4,278

Repayment of long-term loans (624) (711) (4,880)

Repayment of long-term bank credit facilities, net (225) (158) (348)

Repayment and early redemption of debentures and convertible debentures (313) (215) (1,174)

Short-term bank credit, net (280) (111) (15)

Issuance of debentures and convertible debentures, net 639 391 3,098

Repurchase of subsidiary shares by subsidiary - (22) (22)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (303) 478 1,225

Translation differences from cash and cash equivalent balances (41) 21 9

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (438) 684 1,483

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,018 535 535

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1,580 1,219 2,018

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

**)	 Retroactive adjustment, see Note 2d.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31, 

20092010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions 

(a) Investment in initially consolidated company previously presented as available-for-sale 
security:

The consolidated company's assets and liabilities at date of initial consolidation:

Working capital (excluding cash and cash equivalents):

Current assets - (18) (18)

Current liabilities - 261 261

- 243 243

Investment property and other non-current assets - (1,690) (1,690)

Outstanding investment previously presented - 241 241

Non-current liabilities - 976 976

Non-controlling interest in DIM - 130 130

Issuance of share capital to non-controlling interest in EQY - 51 51

Contingent issuance of shares - 37 37

Gain from increase in holding rate - 20 20

- 8 8

(b) Initial proportional consolidation of companies previously included at equity:

The consolidated companies' assets and liabilities upon initial proportional consolidation: 

Working capital (excluding cash and cash equivalents):

Current assets - - (255)

Current liabilities - - 194

- - (61)

Investment property - - (2,409)

Investment property under development - - (1,090)

Other non-current assets - - (60)

Non current liabilities - - 1,068

Non-controlling interests - - 20

Investment presented at equity in convertible debentures and in stock options - - 3,574

Gain from increase in holding rate - - 220

- - 1,262

(c) Significant non-cash transactions:

Conversion of debentures into subsidiary's shares - 20 20

Investment in associate's shares against repayment of convertible debentures - 206 206

Exchange of convertible debentures and stock options and achievement of joint control - - 2,188

Purchase of investments against issuance of shares in subsidiaries 37 126 126

Distribution of dividend in kind in subsidiary - - 155

Dividend declared 51 43 50

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: GENERAL
a.	 These financial statements have been prepared in a condensed format as of March 31, 2010 and for 

the three months then ended ("interim consolidated financial statements"). These financial statements 
should be read in conjunction with the Company's annual financial statements as of December 31, 
2009 and for the year then ended and accompanying notes ("annual financial statements").

b.	 As of March 31, 2010, the Company, on a consolidated basis ("the Group"), has a working capital 
deficiency of approximately NIS 917 million. The Group has unused authorized credit facilities of 
approximately NIS 3.9 billion, available for use in the coming year. In line with the nature of its 
activities, the Group finances its operations by means of revolving lines of credit as interim financing, 
and raises capital and long-term debt, from time to time, in accordance with the state of the market 
instead of the aforementioned revolving lines of credit. Furthermore, Company management is 
acting to renew credit facilities (secured by liens) which mature in the next 12 months. In addition, 
at the balance sheet date, the Group has unpledged investment property, carried in the books at its 
fair value in the amount of NIS 25.1 billion. The Company's management is of the opinion that the 
above resources along with the cash flows from operating activities will enable each of the Group's 
companies to meet its current liabilities.

NOTE 2:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a.	 Basis of preparation of the interim consolidated financial statements:

	 The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles for the preparation of financial statements for interim periods, as prescribed in 
IAS 34, "Interim Financial Reporting", and in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 
D of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970.

	 The significant accounting policies and methods of computation adopted in the preparation of the 
interim consolidated financial statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the 
annual financial statements, except for the noted below:

b.	 Initial adoption of new IFRS:

	 IAS 17 - Leases
	 Pursuant to an amendment to IAS 17, the specific criterion for classification of land as an operating or 

a finance lease was removed. Consequently, the requirement to classify lease of land as an operating 
lease when title does not pass at the end of the lease no longer exists but the classification of lease of 
land shall be examined by reference to the general guidance in IAS 17 which addresses the classification 
of a lease as finance or operating when the original agreement with the Israel Lands Administration 
("the Administration") is signed while taking into account that land, normally, has an indefinite economic 
life. Accordingly, lease of land from the Administration shall be examined by comparing between the 
present value of the amount reported as prepaid operating lease expense and the fair value of the land 
and if said amount materially reflects the fair value, the lease would be classified as a finance lease.

	 The amendment was adopted starting January 1, 2010. The Company estimates that the amendment 
is not expected to materially impact the financial statements. 
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	 IFRS 3 (Revised) - Business Combinations and IAS 27 (Revised) - Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements According to the new Standards: 
-	 The definition of a business was broadened so that it contains also activities and assets that are 

not managed as a business as long as the seller is capable of operating them as a business. 

-	 Non-controlling interests, including goodwill, can be measured either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree's fair value of net identifiable assets on the acquisition 
date, this in respect of each business combination transaction measured separately.

-	 Contingent consideration in a business combination is measured at fair value and changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration, which do not represent adjustments to the 
acquisition cost in the measurement period, are not recognized as goodwill adjustments. If 
the contingent consideration is classified as a financial derivative within the scope of IAS 39, 
it will be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

-	 Direct acquisition costs attributed to a business combination transaction are recognized in the 
statement of income as incurred.

-	 Subsequent measurement of a deferred tax asset for acquired temporary differences which 
did not meet the recognition criteria at acquisition date will be against profit or loss and not 
as adjustment to goodwill. 

-	 A subsidiary's losses, even if resulting in a capital deficiency in a subsidiary, will be allocated 
between the parent company and non-controlling interests, even if the minority has not guaranteed 
or has no contractual obligation for sustaining the subsidiary or of investing further amounts.

-	 On the loss or achievement of control of a subsidiary, the remaining investment, if any, will be 
revalued to fair value against gain or loss from the sale and this fair value will represent the 
cost basis for the purpose of subsequent treatment.

-	 A transaction with non-controlling interest shareholders whether sale or purchase, is accounted 
for as an equity transaction. Accordingly, acquisitions of non-controlling interests by the Group 
are carried against increase in equity (capital reserve for transactions with non-controlling 
interest shareholders) and calculated as the difference between the consideration paid by the 
Group and the relative amount of non-controlling interests acquired which has been deducted 
at the acquisition date. When this difference is negative, a decrease in equity (capital reserve 
for transactions with non-controlling interest shareholders) is recognized in the amount of this 
difference. On the disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, an increase or 
decrease in equity (capital reserve for transactions with non-controlling interest shareholders) 
is recognized in the amount of the difference between the consideration received by the Group 
and the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary which has been 
added to the Company's equity, taking into account also the disposal of the goodwill in the 
subsidiary, if existing, and capital reserves from other comprehensive income (loss) including 
translation differences, if existing, based on the decrease in the interests in the subsidiary. 

-	 Any classification or designation made when recognizing assets and liabilities are assessed 
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions 
that exist at the acquisition date, except for leases and insurance contracts.

-	 In a business combination achieved in stages, the acquirer shall remeasure its previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition date fair value and recognize the resulting gain 
or loss, if any, including reverse of deferred amounts, in other comprehensive income. 
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	 The Standards were adopted as a prospective change from January 1, 2010. The adoption of the 
Standards will affect the accounting treatment of future business combinations and transactions with 
non-controlling interest shareholders.

	 IFRS 5 - Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
	 According to the amendment to IFRS 5, when the parent decides to sell part of its interest in a subsidiary 

so that after the sale the parent retains a non-controlling interest, such as rights conferring significant 
influence, all the assets and liabilities attributed to the subsidiary will be classified as held for sale if the 
relevant criteria of IFRS 5 are met, including the presentation as a discontinued operation. Further, an 
additional amendment specifies the disclosures required in respect of non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) that are classified as held for sale or discontinued operations. Pursuant to the amendment, 
only the disclosures required in IFRS 5 will be provided. Disclosures in other IFRSs apply to such assets 
only if they require specific disclosures in respect of non-current assets or disposal groups. 

	 The amendment was adopted as a prospective change from January 1, 2010. The interim consolidated 
financial statements include the disclosure and classification according to the above amendment.

c.	 Standards issued but not yet effective:

	 IFRS 3 - Business Combinations
	 The amendments to IFRS 3 involve the following issuances: 

	 Measurement of non-controlling interests
	 The amendment restricts those cases where a choice is available as to measurement of non-controlling 

interest at fair value upon the acquisition date, or pro-rata to identified assets, net of the acquired entity. 
In accordance with the amendment, this choice is only available for types of non-controlling interest 
which confer on their holders ownership right and the right to receive pro-rata net assets of the acquired 
entity upon dissolution (usually - shares). On the other hand, other types of non-controlling interest 
(such as options which are an equity instrument in the acquired entity) do not afford this choice, and 
are therefore to be measured at fair value upon acquisition, except in cases of other measurement 
provisions stipulated by other IFRS, such as IFRS 2. The amendment is effective for financial statements 
for periods starting on January 1, 2011. The amendment shall be applied retroactively from the date 
of initial application of IFRS 3 (Revised). Earlier application is permitted. 

	 Share-based payment grants in conjunction with business combination
	 The amendment stipulates the required accounting treatment in conjunction with a business combination, 

with respect to replacement of share-based payment transactions of the acquired entity (whether it is 
required to make this swap or chooses to do so) with share-based payment transactions of the acquiring 
entity. Accordingly, the acquiring entity should attribute an amount to transaction proceeds upon the 
acquisition date, and an amount to expenses in the period subsequent to the acquisition date. However, 
if the grant expires due to the business combination and is replaced by a new grant, then the value of 
the new grant in accordance with IFRS 2 shall be recognized as an expense in the period subsequent 
to the acquisition date, and shall not be included in consideration for the acquisition. Furthermore, 
if share-based payment grants are not replaced, then if the instruments have vested, they constitute 
part of the non-controlling interest and are measured in accordance with provisions of IFRS 2; if the 
instruments have yet to vest, they are measured at the value which would have been used had they 
been re-granted upon the acquisition date, with this amount allocated to non-controlling interest and 
to expenses subsequent to the acquisition date. The amendment is effective for financial statements 
for periods starting on January 1, 2011. The amendment shall be applied retroactively from the date 
of initial application of IFRS 3. Earlier application is permitted. 
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	 The Company is reviewing the effect of this amendment on its financial statements, but is yet unable 
to estimate its outcome.

	 IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting
	 The amendment to IAS 34 stipulates further disclosure requirements on interim financial statements 

with regard to circumstances likely to impact the fair value and classification of financial instruments, 
transfer of financial instruments between different levels of fair value measurement, re-classification 
of financial assets and changes to contingent liabilities and to contingent assets. The amendment 
will be retrospectively applied to financial statements for periods starting on January 1, 2011. Earlier 
application is permitted. 

	 The required disclosures shall be included on the Company's financial statements.

	 IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements
	 In accordance with the amendment, movement between the opening and closing balance for each 

component of other comprehensive income may be presented on the statement of changes to equity or 
in notes to the annual financial statements. The amendment will be retrospectively applied to financial 
statements for periods starting on January 1, 2011. Earlier application is permitted. 

	 The amendment is expected to have no material impact on the Company's financial statements. 

d.	 Following the amendment to IAS 7, the Company has retrospectively adjusted the presentation of 
transactions with non-controlling interests to financing activities, in lieu of presenting them, in certain 
cases, as investment activities.

e.	 Reclassification:
	 The Company has reclassified the item "adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 

operating activities" for the three months ended March 31, 2009, in order to reconcile it to the current 
presentation mode. It is hereby clarified that there was no change to net cash flows from operating 
activities, investing activities or financing activities.

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD
a.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development closed an agreement to include REIT 1 Ltd. ("Reit 1") as a partner, 

with a 49% stake in rights to three shopping centers located in Rishon LeZion, Afula and Yokne'am ("the 
properties"), for total consideration of NIS 315 million, where NIS 24 million out of this consideration 
paid by allotment of Reit 1 shares, traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. Delivery of ownership and 
receipt of proceeds for the property in Yokne'am are expected in January 2011. This transaction includes 
a guaranteed yield mechanism for Reit 1, for a period of 2-4 years, and an incentive mechanism for 
Gazit Development with respect to surplus revenues. The parties have also signed a partnership 
agreement which includes, inter alia, customary departure mechanisms and right of first refusal. 
Gazit Development has not recognized any significant gain from this sale in its financial statements.

b.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development signed a transaction for sale of a 49% stake in a shopping center 
in Kfar Saba to Harel Insurance Group Ltd. ("Harel"), for consideration amounting to NIS 347 million. 
The transaction includes a guaranteed yield mechanism for Harel, for a period of 4 years, an incentive 
mechanism for Gazit Development with respect to surplus revenues, and a proceeds adjustment 
mechanism with respect to an area under construction, the proceeds for which constitute 15% of total 
proceeds in this transaction. The parties have also signed a partnership agreement which includes, 
inter alia, customary departure mechanisms and right of first refusal. Gazit Development has not 
recognized any significant gain from this sale on its financial statements. 
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c.	 In January 2010, FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 125 million par value of unsecured 
debentures (series H), through a shelf prospectus. The debentures bear fixed annual interest at 5.85% 
and mature in one installment in January 2017.

d.	 In January 2010, ATR completed a partial repurchase offer for debentures (Series 2006) with € 80.2 
million par value, amounting to € 76.2 million, or € 95 per € 100 par value. As a result of this repurchase 
offer, ATR recognized a gain from early redemption of debentures in the amount of approximately € 3.7 
million (approximately NIS 19 million).

e.	 In February 2010, the Company issued to institutional investors by way of private placement, about 
NIS 177.5 million par value of debentures (series I) for net proceeds of approximately NIS 200 million.

f.	 In February 2010, EQY exercised the right to purchase an additional 766 thousand DIM shares in 
exchange for allotment of 537 thousand of EQY shares. EQY also issued a purchase offer for the 
remaining DIM shares owned by the public, at a cash price of US$ 7.3 per share. In March and April 
2010, the repurchase offer for 1,673 thousand DIM shares for consideration of US$ 12.2 million was 
concluded, and EQY's holding stake in DIM increased to 93.0% and 95.5% as of March 31, 2010 and as 
of the approval date of these financial statements, respectively. EQY has announced its intention to act 
to force acquisition of the remaining outstanding DIM shares and to de-list DIM shares from trading 
on the Amsterdam Stock Exchange.

g.	 In March 2010, EQY issued 4.83 million shares to the public (including 630 thousand shares provided 
as an option to the underwriters), for net proceeds of US$ 87.6 million. EQY also sold 0.5 million 
shares and 0.1 million shares to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and to GAA, respectively, 
for consideration of US$ 11 million. Consequently to the issuance and sale, the holding stake in EQY 
decreased from 51.9% to 49.2%, and the Group recognized a NIS 34 million gain, which was carried 
directly in capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling interests.

h.	 In February 2010, the Company's board of directors approved allotment of 729,500 stock options to 5 
officers and 13 employees of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, pursuant to the Company's 
2005 stock option plan. The stock options vest in 4 equal lots through the 5th anniversary of the grant 
date, at an exercise price of NIS 39.02 (linked to the CPI). The fair value of each stock option on the 
grant date based on the binomial model is approximately NIS 15.4.

i.	 On February 26, 2010, U. Dori Construction Ltd. (95.5% owned by U. Dori) ("Dori Construction") published 
a prospectus for an initial public offering of securities on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. On March 14, 
2010, Dori Construction completed issuance to the public of 7 million shares and 2.3 million stock 
options for shares, for net proceeds amounting to NIS 59 million. Due to this issuance, U. Dori's holding 
stake in Dori Construction decreased from 95.5% to 71.5% (64.6% fully diluted).

j.	 In March 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company exercised 402 thousand stock options into 
402 thousand FCR shares, for payment of the exercise price of C$ 7.4 million.
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NOTE 4: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
a.	 In April 2010, FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 75 million par value of unsecured 

debentures (series I), through a shelf prospectus. The debentures bear fixed annual interest at 5.70% 
and mature in one installment in November 2017.

b.	 In April 2010, the Company's board of directors approved allotment of 50,000 stock options to an officer 
pursuant to the Company's 2005 stock option plan. The stock options vest in four equal lots through 
the fifth anniversary of the grant date, for an exercise price based on the average share price on the 30 
trading days preceding the grant date. The fair value of each option warrant on the grant date based 
on the binomial model is approximately NIS 14.14.

c.	 On April 12, 2010, Midroog re-confirmed its A1 rating of all Company debenture series outstanding, 
and raised the rating outlook from negative to stable.

d.	 After the balance sheet date, the exchange rate of the Euro, to which the Company is exposed, against 
the NIS, the Company's functional currency, decreased by 4.2%. The weaker Euro is expected to decrease 
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company by NIS 165 million (under capital reserve from 
translation of financial statements). Conversely, the Company is expected to recognize a gain from 
revaluation of future foreign currency transactions (primarily swap transactions), which are used to 
hedge Company cash flows, amounting to NIS 47 million. The aforementioned data has been calculated 
using the official exchange rate soon prior to approval of these financial statements.

e.	 On May 23, 2010, the Company declared a dividend of NIS 0.37 per share payable on July 1, 2010. The 
ex-dividend date is June 16, 2010.

NOTE 5: OPERATING SEGMENTS
Shopping 

centers in 
U.S.

Shopping 
centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
centers 

in North 
Europe

Shopping 
centers in 

central-
eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

performance 
of contract 

works

Other 
segments

Consolidation 
adjustments

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

For the three months ended

March 31, 2010

Segment revenues 262 424 256 84 156 120 (8) 1,294

Segment income 89 167 152 40 1 62 42 553

Financial expenses, net (153)

Income before taxes on 
income 400
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Shopping 
centers in 

U.S.

Shopping 
centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
centers 

in North 
Europe

Shopping 
centers in 

central-
eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

performance 
of contract 

works

Other 
segments

Consolidation 
adjustments

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

For the three months ended

March 31, 2009

Segment revenues 281 360 243 - 122 119 (3) 1,122

Segment income (loss) 206 129 136 (96) (* (5) 222 85 (* 677

Financial expenses, net (340)

Income before taxes on 
income 337

*) Reclassified due to separate presentation of the "shopping centers in central-eastern Europe" segment.

Shopping 
centers in 

U.S.

Shopping 
centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
centers 

in North 
Europe

Shopping 
centers in 

central-
eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

performance 
of contract 

works

Other 
segments

Consolidation 
adjustments

Total

Audited

NIS in millions

For the year ended

December 31, 2009

Segment revenues 1,067 1,525 1,019 - 598 493 (22) 4,680

Segment income (loss) 475 579 585 (259) - (* 242 (903) 719

Financial expenses, net (161)

Income before taxes on 
income

558

*) Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

Segment assets

Shopping 
centers in 

U.S.

Shopping 
centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
centers 

in North 
Europe

Shopping 
centers in 

central-
eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

performance 
of contract 

works

Other 
segments

Consolidation 
adjustments

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

March 31, 2010 8,607 13,410 11,103 3,452 639 5,685 7,281 50,177

March 31, 2009 9,115 11,397 11,782 1,339 (* 625 6,222 9,046 49,526

December 31, 2009 (audited) 8,621 12,864 11,882 3,561 624 6,284 7,668 51,504

*) Reclassified due to separate presentation of the "shopping centers in central-eastern Europe" segment.
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Special review report of the separate interim financial information in accordance with Regulation 
38d of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970.

Introduction
We have reviewed the separate interim financial information presented pursuant to Regulation 38d of the Securities 
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970 of Gazit-Globe Ltd. ("the Company") as of March 31, 2010 
and for the three months then ended. The Company's board of directors and management are responsible for 
the separate interim financial information. We are responsible for expressing our conclusion with regard to the 
separate interim financial information for this interim period, based on our review.

We did not review the separate interim financial information of the financial statements of investees, whose assets 
net of attributed liabilities, net amounted to NIS 6,642 million as of March 31, 2010, and from which earnings 
amounted to NIS 126 million in the three months then ended. The financial statements of those companies were 
reviewed by other auditors, whose reports have been furnished to us, and our conclusion, insofar as it relates to 
the financial statements with respect to those companies, is based on the review reports of the other auditors.

Scope of review
We conducted our review in accordance with Review Standard 1 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
in Israel, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity." A review 
of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and 
accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope 
than an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel and consequently does 
not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified 
in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion
Based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, nothing has come to our attention that causes us 
to believe that the accompanying separate interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, 
pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 38d of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970.

Tel-Aviv, Israel KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER

March 23, 2010 A member of Ernst & Young Global


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GAZIT-GLOBE LTD.
Financial information and financial data from the consolidated financial 
statements attributed to the Company

Below is separate financial information and financial data from the Group's consolidated financial statements as 
of March 31, 2010, published as part of the interim reports ("consolidated financial statements") attributed to the 
Company, presented in accordance with Regulation 38d of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate 
Reports), 1970. 

Significant accounting policies applied for presentation of this financial data are set forth in Note 2 to the annual 
consolidated financial statements.

Investees - as defined in Note 1 to the annual consolidated financial statements.
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March 31, December 31, 
2009

2010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 72 379 356

Short-term investments - 1 -   *)

Short-term loans and current maturities of long-term loans to investees 79 46 73

Income taxes receivable - 1 2

Other accounts receivable 162 99 67

Total current assets 313 526 498

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Long-term loans and deposits 9 9 9

Financial derivatives 803 497 633

Fixed assets 4 4 5

Intangible assets -   *) 1 -

Loans to investees 6,719 7,700 7,074

Debentures of investees 239 258 241

Investments in investees 7,054 6,186 7,300

Deferred taxes - 8 -

Total non-current assets 14,828 14,663 15,262

Total assets 15,141 15,189 15,760

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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March 31, December 31, 
2009

2010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Credit from banks - 22 -

Current maturities of debentures 55 188 194

Trade payables 1 1 2

Income taxes payable 4 2 8

Other accounts payable 102 133 142

Dividend declared 51 43 50

Total current liabilities 213 389 396

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

Loans from banks 1,936 3,687 2,417

Debentures 7,803 7,061 7,705

Financial derivatives 7 41 5

Employee benefit liabilities, net 2 - 2

Deferred taxes 77 - 46

Total long-term liabilities 9,825 10,789 10,175

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY:

Share capital 192 179 192

Share premium 2,852 2,465 2,848

Capital reserves (860) (692) (602)

Retained earnings 2,919 2,059 2,751

Total equity 5,103 4,011 5,189

Total liabilities and equity 15,141 15,189 15,760

May 23, 2010

Date of approval of the financial 
statements

Chaim Katzman
Chairman of the Board

Aharon Soffer
President

Gadi Cunia
CFO

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31,  

20092010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Management fees from investees 1 1 3

Financial income from investees 64 112 482

Other financial income 171 39 150

Other income - gain from increase in holding stake in subsidiary - 105 108

Gain from sale of securities of investees - - 2

Total revenues 236 257 745

General and administrative expenses 8 31 57

Financial expenses 58 235 713

Total expenses 66 266 770

Income (loss) before income from investees, net 170 (9) (25)

Income from investees, net 80 265 1,174

Income before taxes on income 250 256 1,149

Taxes on income 32 (11) 48

Net income attributable to the Company 218 267 1,101

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31,   

20092010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Net income attributable to the Company 218 267 1,101

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company (after tax effect):

Gain (loss) from foreign currency translation adjustments (20) 112 9

Loss in respect of cash flow hedges (1) (18) (12)

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company (21) 94 (3)

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to investees (after tax effect) (278) 350 508

Total other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company (299) 444 505

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company (81) 711 1,606

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31,  

20092010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Cash flows from operating activities of the Company:

Net income attributable to the Company 218 267 1,101

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities of the Company:

Adjustments to profit and loss items of the Company:

Depreciation -  *) -  *) 1

Financial expenses (income), net (177) 84 81

Income with respect to investees, net (80) (265) (1,174)

Cost of share-based payment 3 1 4

Taxes on income 32 (11) 48

Gain from sale of investments in investees - - (2)

Change in employee benefit liabilities - - 2

Gain from increase in holding stake in investees - (105) (108)

(222) (296) (1,148)

Changes in asset and liability items of the Company:

Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable 1 5 51

Increase in trade payables and other accounts payable (9) 22 8

(8) 27 59

Cash paid and received during the period by the Company for:

Interest paid (164) (145) (516)

Interest received 24 7 32

Interest received from investees 46 99 348

Taxes paid (1) (1) (4)

Dividend received - - -	
*)

Dividend received from investees - - 82

(95) (40) (58)

Net cash used in operating activities of the Company (107) (42) (46)

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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Three months ended March 31, Year ended 
December 31, 

20092010 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Cash flows from investing activities of the Company:

Acquisition of fixed assets - -   *) (1)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets - - -

Investments in investees - (93) (104)

Loans repaid (granted) to investees, net 104 (238) 186

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities - - 18

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of the Company 104 (331) 99

Cash flows from financing activities of the Company:

Issuance of shares (less issuance expenses) - - 391

Exercise of stock options into shares 1 -   *)

Repayment of loans granted for purchase of Company shares -   *) - -   *)

Dividend paid to equity holders of the Company (50) (43) (179)

Issuance of debentures, less issuance expenses 190 390 963

Repayment and early redemption of debentures (150) (57) (148)

Short-term credit, net - 22 -

Withdrawal (repayment) of long-term credit facilities from banks, net (272) 273 (891)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities of the Company (281) 585 136

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (284) 212 189

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 356 167 167

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 72 379 356

(a)	 Material non-cash transactions of the Company:

Dividend payable 51 43 50

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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a.	 General:
	 This financial information is prepared in a condensed format in accordance with Regulation 38d of the 

Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970. This separate financial information 
should be read in conjunction with the financial information in the annual financial statements as of 
December 31, 2009 and for the year then ended, with the accompanying notes thereto, as well as in 
conjunction with the interim consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2010.

b.	 Material investments and transactions with investees:
1.	 In the first quarter of 2010, CTY declared a dividend amounting to € 30.9 million. The Company's 

share of this dividend, paid in April 2010, amounted to NIS 73.6 million.

2.	 In the first quarter of 2010, Gazit Development declared a dividend amounting to NIS 20 million 
(the Company's share - NIS 15 million).

c.	 Dividends:
	 On May 23, 2010, the Company declared a dividend of NIS 0.37 per share payable on July 1, 2010. The 

ex-dividend date is June 16, 2010.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION




